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December 11, 2013

Members of the School Board and Citizens of Miami-Dade County:

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of The School Board of Miami-
Dade County, Florida (the “School Board,” the “District,” “Miami-Dade County 
Public Schools” or “M-DCPS”) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 is 
hereby submitted.  Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data, and the 
completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests 
with the School Board.  To the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed 
data is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner designed 
to present fairly the financial position and results of operations of the District.  
All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an understanding of 
the District’s financial activities have been included.

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report is presented in sections.  
The financial section includes the Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(MD&A), immediately following the independent auditor’s report, that 
provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial 
statements.  MD&A compliments this letter of transmittal and should be read 
in conjunction with it.

The District is the fourth largest school district in the nation.  It is responsible for 
the operation, control, and supervision of all District schools and is considered 
a primary government for financial reporting purposes.  This report includes 
all funds of the District and the Miami-Dade County School Board Foundation, 
Inc., which is reported as a blended component unit, comprising the reporting 
entity.  The District provides a full range of educational services appropriate 
to students in early childhood, grade levels Pre-K through 12, and adult/
vocational education programs.  These include basic, regular and enriched 
academic education, special education for handicapped children, vocational 
education, and many individualized programs, such as special instruction 
for disadvantaged students and those with limited English proficiency.  The 
District’s mission, as a team, is to provide and support the highest quality 
education for our diverse community of children and adult learners.

The School Board of Miami-Dade County, Florida
1450 Northeast Second Avenue
Miami, Florida  33132

“Miami-Dade County Public 
Schools is entering an age 

of convergence.  Digital 
convergence is the portal 
through which students 
of today and tomorrow 
will access information, 
stimulate inquiry, and 

cultivate knowledge.  The 
school district is committed 

to utilizing technology to 
enhance effective instruction 

and prepare students for 
success in the 21st Century.”

Alberto M. Carvalho

Alberto M. Carvalho
Superintendent of Schools
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Miami-Dade County is known as the “Gateway to the Americas.”  Trade is 
increasingly vital to the economy.  Its close proximity to Latin America and 
the Caribbean make it the center of international trade with those areas.  The 
city’s international trade infrastructure is vast and varied.  This infrastructure 
includes the Port of Miami, which is the busiest port for pleasure cruise ships in 
the world, coupled with the Miami International Airport, which is the nation’s top 
airport for international freight and third for international passengers.  Miami’s 
tourism continues to be the principal industry; however, the city’s economy has 
become more diversified.  International banking is another growing segment of 
the economy.  Miami has become a major banking and commerce center in the 
southeast United States, dominating trade and finance.

Tourism remains a major industry for the area, as well as the state.  Its mild 
climate, miles of beaches and attractions lure vacationers to the Greater Miami 
area.

Thirty-five municipalities, including the cities of Miami, Miami Beach, Hialeah, 
and Coral Gables, as well as unincorporated areas, comprise the county of 
Miami-Dade, which covers approximately 2,000 square miles and is inhabited 
by nearly 2.5 million citizens.  Miami-Dade County Public Schools remains the 
area’s largest employer and the second in the state, employing over 41,720 full 
and part-time employees.  Full-time employees numbered approximately 33,000 
during 2012-13, including nearly 21,000 instructional professionals.  The District’s 
annual operating budget for fiscal year 2013-14 is in excess of $2.8 billion to 
serve an estimated enrollment of 353,491 students.  Beginning in 2002, student 
enrollment gradually decreased by nearly 25,000 students.  In 2009-10, it began 
a slight increase and that trend continues in 2013-14.

The outlook for Florida is brighter that it has been in years.  The economy hasn’t 
returned to pre-recession levels, but improvement is steady but slow.  Much of this 
can be attributed to a rebound in the housing industry.  Tourism remains robust 
and banks are becoming more open to lending.  Concerns remain, of course - 
the impact of the Federal healthcare law in small businesses, still relatively high 
unemployment which was 7.3% in August 2013 compared to 8.9% a year ago 
(August 2012) and economic policies being debated in Congress and in the State 
Legislature. 

Long-Term Financial Planning  Providing world class educational opportunities 
for the children of Miami-Dade County in the face of ongoing economic challenges 
is reflected in the District’s priorities and values.

General Obligation Bond Referendum  A $1.2 billion 
General Obligation Bond (GOB) referendum was approved 
by voters on the November 6, 2012 ballot.  Proceeds from 
the bond issue will be used to modernize and construct 
schools throughout the District, including technology 
upgrades at all schools.   The District issued the first $200 
million of project funding in July 2013 and has already 
launched 69 projects worth $180 million just within the 
first year, with all design services and contracting work 
being done by local firms.

ECONOMIC 
CONDITIONS 
AND OUTLOOK

FINANCIAL
INFORMATION
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Internal Control Structure  The internal control structure is subject 
to periodic evaluation by management and the internal audit staff. In 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards, the independent auditors 
have issued a report dated November 25, 2013 on their consideration of the 
District’s internal control structure.  The purpose of their report is to describe 
the scope of their testing of internal control and the results of that testing, 
and not to provide an opinion on internal control.   

The administration is responsible for establishing and maintaining an 
internal control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the District 
are protected from loss, theft or misuse, and to ensure that adequate 
accounting data is compiled and recorded properly to allow for the 
preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles.  The internal control structure is designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are met.  The 
concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that:  (1) the cost of control 
should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the evaluation of 
costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by the administration.

The accompanying financial statements demonstrate that even under a 
period of changing operational conditions, the District continues to achieve 
a policy of sound financial management.

Budgetary Controls  The District maintains budgetary controls.  The 
objective of these budgetary controls is to ensure compliance with legal 
provisions embodied in the annual appropriated budget approved by the 
School Board.  Activities of the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, 
Debt Service Funds, Capital Projects Funds, Proprietary Fund, and the 
Fiduciary Funds, except the schools’ Internal Fund, are included in the 
annual appropriated budget.  Project-length financial plans are provided 
for the Capital Projects Funds, but budgets are adopted for only one year.

Budgetary control is maintained for individual accounts or groups of accounts 
within each school or department through the use of an encumbrance 
accounting system.  The process uses a test for availability of funds which 
precludes any requisition for services, equipment, supplies or materials 
from becoming a purchase order, if the account would be overspent.  
Encumbrances are reappropriated as part of the following year’s budget.  
The District issues a publicly available Annual Budget Plan for planning 
purposes and an Executive Summary for adoption by the School Board.  
In addition, in order to control salaries effectively, a centralized Position 
Authorization Control (PAC) system governs salary expenditures, whereby 
full-time employees are not paid unless they are fully processed and fill a 
slot in the PAC system that also identifies the account structure to charge.

Independent Audit   State law permits an outside independent audit of 
school districts by a firm of certified public accountants in lieu of an audit 
performed by the State of Florida, Office of the Auditor General.  The auditing 
firm McGladrey LLP was selected by the School Board to perform the annual 
audit.  In keeping with the minority firm utilization program established by 
the School Board, McGladrey LLP was assisted by Sharpton Brunson & 
Company, and Rodriguez, Trueba & Company, PA.
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The Auditor’s report on the financial statements is included in the financial 
section of this report.  A separate report will be issued by the Auditor 
General to further satisfy the requirements of OMB circular A-133 and the 
Single Audit Act of 1996.

As an additional oversight review and control, the School Board Audit 
and Budget Advisory Committee, which includes individuals from the 
private sector with extensive knowledge in accounting and municipal 
finance, monitors the independent audit process.  This includes reviewing 
the scope of the audit and the progress of the audit.  Furthermore, the 
Committee evaluates the financial statements, the auditors’ report and 
the administration’s response.  The Committee also reviews all internal 
audit reports and administrative staff responses, placing an emphasis 
on timely implementation of the recommendations made by the auditors.  
The Committee meets regularly, at least six times per year, and operates 
independently of the administration.  It oversees the overall audit function 
and issues an annual report to the School Board.

Relevant Financial Policies  The intent of the School Board is to ensure 
that the District manages its budget and finance in a fiscally prudent and 
responsible way by establishing financial policies about the Budget, Fund 
Balance and the maintenance of adequate reserves.

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when 
the liability is incurred.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current 
financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis 
of accounting.  Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues 
except for certain grant revenues, are recognized when susceptible to 
accrual, that is when they become measurable and available.  Property 
taxes, interest and certain General Fund revenues are the significant 
revenue sources considered susceptible to accrual.

Broad Prize Winner  Miami-Dade County Public Schools (M-DCPS) 
has been named the winner of The Broad Prize for Urban Education, an 
annual award that honors urban school districts across the country that 
are making the greatest progress in raising student achievement.  This is 
the fifth time that M-DCPS had been recognized as a finalist. The District 
was also a finalist in 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2011.

Common Core Standards  Florida is one of 45 states implementing 
Common Core Standards in language arts and mathematics beginning 
next year. The new standards will require students to master fewer 
education standards at a higher level and emphasize critical thinking and 
problem solving. The rigorous standards will better prepare our students 
to compete in a global economy. Miami-Dade County Public Schools has 
been implementing the Common Core State Standards (CCSS) in grades 

MAJOR
INITIATIVES
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K-2 for the past two years. This school year, the school district is offering 
a blended curriculum in grades K-12 – blending both the Next Generation 
Sunshine State Standards and the CCSS in English language arts and 
mathematics. 

Cambridge International Examinations Agreement  M-DCPS broke new 
ground in international collaboration by entering into an agreement with 
Cambridge International Examinations, part of the University of Cambridge in 
the United Kingdom.  M-DCPS will become the first major school district in the 
United States to build such a relationship.  Over the next three years, M-DCPS 
will roll out 80 Cambridge Programs in 70 schools, including the Cambridge 
Primary Program in elementary schools, the Cambridge Secondary 1 Program 
in middle schools, and the Cambridge International General Certification of 
Secondary Education (Cambridge IGCSE) and the Cambridge Advanced 
International Certificate of Education (Cambridge AICE) Diploma Programs in 
senior high schools. These new Cambridge Program schools will complement 
the 20 existing Cambridge programs currently in 16 M-DCPS schools.

New Choice/Magnet Programs  Forty-two new choice/magnet program 
offerings will be created in 38 schools with strands that include: Cambridge, 
science, mathematics, legal studies, information technology, and the arts.

STEM Mobile  A self-contained high end science lab will be added to the 
District’s fleet of rolling classrooms.  Serving students in 5th and 8th grades 
as well as high school Biology students, this mobile lab will bring hands-on, 
biology-focused activities to schools across the District. 

iPrep Math  This program will fuse technology with personalized student 
learning to create a true 21st Century educational experience in this critical 
content area in 49 middle schools. 

Districtwide Accreditation   This rigorous process involves a comprehensive 
external review of the District’s schools, performance, practices, and policies. 
The accreditation process culminates with the granting of Accreditation by 
AdvancED and certifies to the community that M-DCPS is a High Quality 
School System committed to continuous improvement. 

M-DCPS – FIU Transition Center  This program will provide support to 
students with disabilities as they transition from high school to college with 
the goal of increasing the number of students with disabilities who enroll in 
college and successfully graduate. 

International Student Academy – China Partnership  This program will 
broaden the District’s cultural landscape and create real-world connections 
for our students by providing opportunities for first-hand exchanges of 
information and ideas among peers from vastly different backgrounds. 
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Data DashBoard  The DashBoard, an at-a-glance tool that will inform 
the decision-making process by helping to easily identify strengths and 
weaknesses within the organization, will provide real-time access to 
information on a variety of Key-Performance Indicators related to both 
academic and business performance.

Schools 21st Century Banking Transformation Initiative  The District 
will use SAP technology to automate and reduce school-site tasks related 
to cash collection, payment processing, recording and reconcilement of 
financial transactions.

Food Acquisition and Distribution Program   By leveraging economies 
of scale, it is anticipated that the District will save at least $1 million in food 
costs annually while still providing outstanding quality and nutrition. 

Owners Control Insurance Program  This program will provide better 
coverage to protect the District, while saving money and providing expensive 
and often difficult-to-procure coverage for micro/small/minority sub-
contractors as a component of District’s initiatives. 

M-DCPS Educator Named 2013 National Teacher-of-the-Year by Magnet 
Schools of America  Tere Pujol-Burns, lead teacher of the International 
Studies Magnet Program at Sunset Elementary School, was named the 
2013 National Teacher of the Year by Magnet Schools of America. The 
award recognizes an outstanding, dedicated full-time magnet teacher 
who exemplifies excellence in academic achievement through innovative 
programs that promote equity and diversity for students in magnet schools, 
and who has demonstrated excellence in the teaching profession, community, 
and parental involvement.

Thirty-five National Magnet Schools of Merit Awards  Thirty-five Magnet 
Schools in Miami-Dade County public schools have been recognized by 
Magnet Schools of America for their commitment to high academic standards, 
curriculum innovation, successful desegregation/diversity efforts, specialized 
teaching staffs, and parent community involvement. No other school district 
has ever received such a high number of awards within a single school year, 
and for the second year in a row, M-DCPS out-performed all other school 
districts nationwide by a large margin.

Twenty-one Schools Named Best  Twenty-one Miami-Dade County public 
high schools earned their way onto Newsweek magazine’s list of the 1,000 
Best High Schools in America.

Teen and Police Service Academy  School Police will be launching clubs 
in up to five schools, pairing officers as club sponsors with at-risk teens.  
Participants will engage in public service projects, peer-to-peer counseling 
and other activities designed to reduce youth crime and truancy and increase 
positive relationships and successful school outcomes. 

PROGRAM
HIGHLIGHTS
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Computer Refresh and Mobile Device Initiative  The District will be 
investing in new computers and mobile digital devices for student use.  As 
part of the District’s Digital Conversion, this endeavor will broaden technology 
access, leveraging the new wireless infrastructure provided through last 
year’s E-Rate funded wireless initiative. 

WiFi Zones  Students will be able to access the web and educational content 
anywhere they carry their digital devices, and schools will be transformed into 
“virtual” neighborhood hubs with the capacity to provide free Internet access, 
particularly in underserved communities. 

Technology-based, indoor, fitness trail for elementary school recess 
This innovative program will motivate students and teachers to embrace 
physical activity as a lifelong habit. 

Adult Education Student Portal  The portal will offer a unified web presence 
where individuals can easily access information, curriculum, records, schedule 
appointments, and even take care of any financial obligations. 

Leading Edge Certification - Digital Educator  Miami-Dade teachers will 
have the opportunity to receive training aligned to national benchmarks, 
indicators, and competencies associated with the effective use of educational 
technology. 

iHeat Peer Assistance and Review Program  Designed as a complement to 
the District’s teacher evaluation system, iHeat will allow teachers in selected 
schools to participate in peer observations, receive job-embedded support 
and professional development, and get feedback that will lead to performance 
improvement. 

e-VALUE Custodial Training Program and Evaluation Guide  The guide 
will ensure that high standards are uniformly applied district-wide, and 
that the District’s custodial staff receive training and access to educational 
opportunities that will enhance their professional skills. 

M-DCPS Administrators Named Top Principal and Assistant Principal 
in Florida  Two Miami-Dade County Public Schools’ administrators won 
top honors for their superior leadership skills during the eighth-annual 
Commissioner’s Summit for Principals. Dr. Pablo Ortiz, former principal of 
Miami Edison Senior High, was named the Florida Outstanding Principal of 
the Year and Denise Barrett-Johnson, assistant principal at Lake Stevens 
Middle School was named Florida Outstanding Assistant Principal of the Year. 
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Financial Awards  The Council of the Great City Schools recently 
recognized the Miami-Dade County Public Schools (M-DCPS) for 
employing the highest standards in financial management, accountability 
and fiscal control.

It presented the Award for Excellence in Financial Management for 
its financial performance in safeguarding and protecting the financial 
integrity of the school system.  M-DCPS met all of the mandatory and 
recommended management practices of the 136 practices in the nine 
areas of financial operations.

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) of the United 
States and Canada awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence 
in Financial Reporting to The School Board of Miami-Dade County for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. This was the twenty-eight consecutive 
year that the District has received this prestigious award.

The School Board of Miami-Dade County also received the Association 
of School Business Officials (ASBO) International Certificate of 
Excellence in Financial Reporting for the Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012.  This is the 
twenty-nine consecutive prestigious award that the District has received 
from ASBO.  

These awards are for one year only and signify that the financial 
report conforms to generally accepted accounting principles, legal 
requirements and standards of reporting required by the organization 
granting the award.
 
We believe that our current Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
continues to meet the Certificate Programs’ requirements, and we are 
submitting it to both GFOA and ASBO, to determine its eligibility to 
receive, once more, their respective prestigious awards.

The District also received the GFOA’s award for Distinguished Budget 
Presentation for its annual adopted budget dated July 1, 2012.  In order 
to qualify for the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award, the District’s 
budget document was judged to be proficient in several categories, 
including policy documentation, financial planning and organization.  
The award encourages and assists state and local governments in 
preparing budget documents of the very highest quality that reflect both 
the guidelines established by the National Advisory Council on State 
and Local Budgeting and the GFOA’s best practices on budgeting.
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Acknowledgment  The preparation of this report could not have been accomplished 
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Respectfully submitted,

Alberto M. Carvalho, Superintendent of Schools

Richard H. Hinds, Ed.D., Chief Financial Officer 

Connie Pou, C.P.A., Controller
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Independent Auditor's Report 
 
 
Chairperson and Members of 
The School Board of Miami-Dade County, Florida 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of The School Board of Miami-Dade County, Florida (the 
School Board), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, which collectively comprise the School 
Board’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
 
Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of The School Board of Miami-Dade County, Florida, as of June 30, 2013, and the 
respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison schedules, schedules of funding progress, and schedules 
of employee contributions, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted 
of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express 
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because of the limited procedures do not provide 
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the School Board’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining and 
individual fund financial statements and other supplementary information, and statistical section are 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  
 
The combining and individual fund financial statements and other supplementary information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual fund financial statements and 
other supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole.  
 
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on them. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 25, 
2013, on our consideration of the School Board’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the School Board’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
Miami, Florida 
November 25, 2013 
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THE SCHOOL BOARD OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A)

JUNE 30, 2013
(Unaudited)

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of The School Board of Miami-Dade County, Florida (the 
District) is intended to provide an overview of the District’s financial position and changes in financial position 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013.

Since the focus of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is on the current year activities, resulting 
changes and currently known facts, it should be read in conjunction with the District’s financial statements, 
including the accompanying notes. Additionally, as a required part of the MD&A, comparative information for 
the current year and the prior year is presented for financial analysis to enhance the understanding of the 
District’s financial performance. 

Financial Highlights

At June 30, 2013, the General Fund had a total fund balance of $84.4 million.  This fund balance was comprised 
of $7.1 million of non-spendable funds, $1.5 million of restricted funds, $17.8 million of assigned funds and 
$58.0 million of unassigned funds.  

General fund balance decreased by $(59.8) million or (41.5)% from the previous year primarily due to a shortfall 
in property tax revenues and increases in costs.

Capital Projects funds ended the year with a fund balance of $68.8 million, a decrease of $(66.2) million or 
(49)% from the previous year primarily due to declining revenues as a result of a lower tax roll and debt capacity 
limitations.  

Debt Service funds ended the year with a fund balance of $77.6 million, a decrease of $(2.1) million or (2.6)% 
from the previous year primarily due to funds used to refund previously issued debt. 

Special Revenue funds ended the year with a fund balance of $18.1 million, an increase of $804 thousand or 
4.6% from the previous year primarily due to slight increases in revenue in the Food Service fund.

Both Moody’s Investor Services and Standard & Poor’s maintained the District’s stable outlook and cited the 
District’s notable gradual financial improvement with a strong management team and future ability to fund 
capital improvements with general obligation debt of $1.2 billion approved by the voters on November 6, 2012.
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USING THIS COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

This comprehensive annual financial report is comprised of different sections.  The following graphic is provided to 
facilitate the understanding of the format and its components:

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The District’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report consists of a series of financial statements and accompanying 
notes, with the primary focus being on the District as a whole. The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities are government-wide financial statements that provide both short-term and long-term information about 
the District’s overall financial position. The fund financial statements report the District’s operations in more detail 
by providing information as to how services are financed in the short-term, as well as the remaining available 
resources for future spending. Additionally, the fund financial statements focus on Major Funds rather than fund 
types. The proprietary fund statements offer short-term and long-term financial information about the activities of 
the District as it relates to the group health insurance program. The remaining statements, the Fiduciary Funds 
Statements, provide financial information for those activities in which the District acts solely as a trustee or agent 
for the benefit of others. The accompanying notes provide essential information that is not disclosed on the face of 
the financial statements. Consequently, the notes are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities - Most of the activities of the District are reported 
in these statements, including instruction, instructional support services, operations and maintenance, school 
administration, general administration, pupil transportation, and food service. Additionally, all state and federal 
grants, as well as capital and debt financing activities are reported in these statements.

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities present a view of the District’s financial operations 
as a whole, reflect all financial transactions and provide information helpful in determining whether the District’s 
financial position has improved or deteriorated as a result of the current year’s activities.  Both of these statements 
are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting similar to that used by most private-sector companies.  The 
Statement of Net Position includes assets plus deferred outflows of resources, and liabilities, less deferred inflows 
of resources, both short and long term.   

The Statement of Activities reports all of the current year’s revenues and expenses regardless of when cash is 
received or paid. The two government-wide statements report the District’s Net Position and the changes that 
resulted from the District’s operations. The relationship between revenues and expenses indicates the District’s 
operating results. Over time, increases and decreases in the District’s Net Position are an indicator of whether the 
District’s financial position is improving or deteriorating. However, as a governmental entity, the District’s activities 
are not geared towards generating profits as are the activities of commercial entities. Other factors, such as the 
safety of schools and quality of education, must be considered in order to reasonably assess the District’s overall 
performance, particularly because of the limited resources available. 

Basic Financial Statements

Government-Wide Financial Statements
Fund Financial Statements

MD&A

Management Discussion & Analysis
(required supplementary information)

Other Required Supplementary Information

Required Supplementary Information
(other than MD&A)

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Fund Financial Statements

The District’s fund financial statements provide a detailed short-term view of the District’s operations, focusing 
on its most significant or “major” funds. Certain funds are required by law while others are created by legal 
agreements, such as bond covenants. The District establishes other funds to ensure and demonstrate compliance 
with finance-related legal requirements and prudent fiscal management. The District has three kinds of funds - 
governmental funds, a proprietary fund and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds - The accounting for most of the District’s basic services is included in the governmental 
funds. The measurement focus and basis of accounting continue to be reported using the modified accrual 
basis of accounting, which measures inflows and outflows of current financial resources and the remaining 
balances at year-end that are available for spending.  Furthermore, under this basis of accounting, changes in 
net spendable assets normally are recognized only to the extent that they are expected to have a near-term 
impact.  Inflows of financial resources are recognized only if they are available to liquidate liabilities of the current 
period. Similarly, future outflows are typically recognized only if they represent a depletion of current financial 
resources. The District’s major governmental funds are the General Fund, Other Federal Programs, Federal 
Economic Stimulus Funds, American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) Economic Stimulus Debt Service 
Fund, Capital Improvement-Local Optional Millage Levy (LOML) Funds, Certificates of Participation (COPs)
Funds, and American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) Economic Stimulus Capital Projects Funds.  The 
differences in the amounts reported between the fund statements and the government-wide financial statements 
are explained in the reconciliations provided on Pages 25 and 28.

Proprietary Fund - The District maintains an Internal Service Fund as its only proprietary fund.  Internal service 
funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the District’s various 
functions.  The District uses the internal service fund to report the activities of the group health self-insurance 
program.  Since these services predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, 
the internal service fund has been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial 
statements.  The District’s proprietary fund activity is reported in the Statement of Net Position, the Statement 
of Revenues Expenses and Changes in Net Position, and the Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds on  
Pages 29 through 31.

Fiduciary Funds - The District is the trustee, or fiduciary, for resources held for the benefit of others, such as the 
student activities fund and the pension trust fund.  The District’s fiduciary activities are reported in the Statement 
of Fiduciary Net Position on Page 32 and the Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position on Page 33.  The 
resources accounted for in these funds are excluded from the government-wide financial statements because 
these funds are not available to finance the District’s operations.  Consequently, the District is responsible for 
ensuring that these resources are used only for their intended purposes.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes provide disclosures and additional information that are essential to a full understanding of the financial 
information presented in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  

Other Information

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also provides certain required 
supplementary information, as well as combining and individual fund statements and schedules beginning on  
Page 90.
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Total Assets Total Liabilities

Total Net Position

1.4

3.8 5.2

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

Statement of Net Position

The following table provides a comparative analysis of the District’s Net Position for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2013 and 2012.

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
June 30, 2013 and 2012

($ in millions)

Categories 2012/13 2011/12

Difference 
Increase 

(Decrease)

%
Increase 

(Decrease)

Current and Other Assets $ 509.7 $ 697.2 $ (187.5) (26.9) %
Capital Assets, Net 4,663.8 4,724.9 (61.1) (1.3) % 

Total Assets $ 5,173.5 $ 5,422.1 $ (248.6) (4.6) %

Deferred Outflows of Resources
  Accumulated decrease in fair value hedging                                                                                                                                          
  derivatives

$ 28.9 41.2 (12.3) (29.9)

Current Liabilities $ 399.7 $ 445.3 $ (45.6) (10.2) %
Long-term Liabilities 3,407.3 3,529.5 (122.2) (3.5) %

Total Liabilities 3,807.0 3,974.8 (167.8) (4.2) %

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital 
    Assets

1,550.2 1,626.4 (76.2) (4.7)

Restricted 104.2 120.5 (16.3) (13.5) %
Unrestricted (deficit) (259.0) (258.4) (0.6) (0.2) %

Total Net Position $ 1,395.4 $ 1,488.5 $ (93.1) (6.3) %

The District’s total assets plus deferred outflows of resources were $5.2 billion and total liabilities were $3.8 
billion as of June 30, 2013.  Both assets and liabilities declined as result of the use of resources to reduce 
liabilities.

The District’s net position totaled approximately $1.4 billion. Most of this amount represents the District’s 
investment in capital assets (land, buildings, furniture, fixtures & equipment), net of depreciation and less any 
outstanding debt used to construct or acquire those assets.  Restricted net position in the amount of $104.2 
million are reported separately to show legal constraints, from debt covenants and enabling legislation.  The 
$(259.0) million unrestricted deficit in net position reflects the shortfall the District would face in the event it 

would have to liquidate all of its non-capital liabilities, including insurance 
claims payable, compensated absences, and other post employment 
benefits, at June 30, 2013.  A deficit in unrestricted net position should 
not be considered, solely, as evidence of economic financial difficulties.

The District is required to include all of its capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, and of related debt, as well as all of its long 
term liabilities Consequently, these long term considerations have a 
significant impact on the resulting Net Position.
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Statement of Activities

The following table summarizes the changes in the District’s Net Position from its activities for the fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2013 and 2012.

CHANGES IN NET POSITION - GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
For Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2013 and 2012

($ in millions)

Revenues        2012/13 2011/12

Difference
Increase

(Decrease)

%
Increase

(Decrease)
Program Revenues:

Charges for Services $ 54.5 60.7 $ (6.2) (10.2) %
Operating Grants & Contributions 132.5 121.7 10.8 8.9 %
Capital Grants & Contributions 50.7 38.2 12.5 32.7 %

Total Program Revenues 237.7 220.6 17.1 7.8 %
General Revenues:

Ad Valorem Taxes 1,525.0 1,537.6 (12.6) (0.8) %
Grants & Contributions Not

Restricted to Specific Programs 1,495.7 1,415.4 80.3 5.7 %
Investment Earnings 3.2 3.7 (0.5) (13.5) %
Miscellaneous Revenues 47.0 33.4 13.6 40.7 %

Total General Revenues 3,070.9 2,990.1 80.8 2.7 %
Total Revenues 3,308.6 3,210.7 97.9 3.0 %

Expenses
Instructional Services 1,960.1 1,918.3 41.8 2.2 %
Instructional Support Services 284.4 277.4 7.0 2.5 %
Pupil Transportation 82.5 81.5 1.0 1.2 %
Operations & Maintenance of Plant 342.7 344.3 (1.6) (0.5) %
Food Service 150.3 145.1 5.2 3.6 %
School Administration 153.6 154.6 (1.0) (0.6) %
General Administration 13.8 11.3 2.5 22.1 %
Business/Central Services 67.0 69.7 (2.7) (3.9) %
Facilities Acquisition and Construction 26.6 77.9 (51.3) (65.9) %
Administrative Technology Services 3.2 2.9 0.3 10.3 %
Interest on Long-Term Debt 129.3 136.3 (7.0) (5.1) %
Community Services 31.0 30.3 0.7 2.3 %
Unallocated Depreciation 157.2 155.6 1.6 1.0 %

Total Expenses 3,401.7 3,405.2 (3.5) (0.1) %
Increase (Decrease) in Net Position (93.1) (194.5) 101.4 52.1 %

Net Position Beginning $ 1,488.5 1,683.0 $ (194.5) (11.6) %
Net Position Ending $ 1,395.4 1,488.5 $ (93.1) (6.3) %

General Revenues for Ad Valorem Taxes decreased by $(12.6) million or (0.8)% from the previous fiscal year as a 
result of decreases in property values.  Grants & Contributions Not Restricted to Specific Programs increased by $80.3 
million or 5.7% primarily attributed to increases in state revenues, as well as other federal and local grants.
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Governmental Activities
The Statement of Activities reports gross expenses, offsetting program 
revenues and the resulting net expense (cost) by functions for the current year. 
The net cost of each of the District’s functions represents the expenses that 
must be subsidized by general revenues, including tax dollars. As reflected in 
the Statement of Activities, total expenses for governmental activities totaled 
$3,244.5 million, excluding unallocated depreciation expense, of which 
$237.7 million were financed by charges for services and other program 
revenues. The resulting net costs of $3,006.8 million, excluding unallocated 
depreciation expense, were financed primarily by Florida Education Finance 
Program (FEFP) dollars and property taxes.

The table below, presents a comparative analysis of the cost and the net cost of each of the District’s functions: 
School Level Services include Instruction, Student Services (counselors, psychologists, and visiting teachers), 
Transportation, Custodial and Maintenance (including utilities), School Administration and Community Services; 
Instructional Support Services include Curriculum Development and Staff Training; Business/Central Services 
include Accounting, Budget, Payroll, Accounts Payable, Cash and Debt Management, Purchasing, Personnel, 
Data Processing, Risk Management, and Warehousing; General Administration; and Facilities Acquisition & 
Construction.

NET COST OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
For Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2013 and 2012

($ in millions)

2012/13 2011/12

Difference
Increase

(Decrease)

%
Increase

(Decrease)
Total Cost of Services

School Level Services $ 2,720.2 $ 2,674.1 $ 46.1 1.7   %
Instructional Support Services 284.4 277.4 7.0           2.5 %
Business/Central Services 199.5 208.9 (9.4) (4.5) %
General Administration 13.8 11.3 2.5          22.1 %
Facilities Acquisition & Construction 26.6 77.9 (51.3) (65.9) %

Total Cost of Services * $ 3,244.5 $ 3,249.6 $ (5.1) (0.2) %

Net Cost of Services
School Level Services $ 2,518.8 $ 2,477.2 $ 41.6 1.7 %
Instructional Support Services 284.4 277.4 7.0 2.5 %
Business/Central Services 185.9 195.3 (9.4) (4.8) %
General Administration 13.8 11.3 2.5        22.1 %
Facilities Acquisition & Construction 3.9 67.8 (63.9) (94.2) %

Net Cost of Services * $ 3,006.8 $ 3,029.0 $ (22.2) (0.7) %

*   Excluding unallocated depreciation expense

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE DISTRICT’S FUNDS
As noted earlier, the District uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. Financial information is presented separately in the Balance Sheet, and in the Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances for the District’s major funds: General Fund, Other Federal Programs, 
Federal Economic Stimulus Funds, ARRA Economic Stimulus Debt Service Fund, Capital Improvement-Local Optional 
Millage Levy (LOML) Funds, Certificates of Participation (COPs) Funds, and ARRA Economic Stimulus Capital Projects 
Funds.  Financial information for the non-major governmental funds is aggregated and presented in a single column.  
Individual fund data for each of the non-major governmental funds is presented in the combining statements beginning 
on Page 90.

Gen

F
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GENERAL FUND

The General Fund is the primary operating fund for the District.  Presented below is an overall analysis of the 
General Fund as compared to the prior year.

CHANGES IN GENERAL FUND ACTIVITY
For Fiscal Years 2012/13 and 2011/12

($ in thousands)

Categories      2012/13 2011/12

Difference
Increase

(Decrease)

%
Increase

(Decrease)

Revenues $ 2,396,992 $ 2,343,309 $ 53,683 2.3 %
Other Financing Sources 150,828 164,518 (13,690) (8.3) %
Beginning Fund Balance 144,143 221,712 (77,569) (35.0) %

Total $ 2,691,963 $ 2,729,539 $ (37,576) (1.4) %

Expenditures $ 2,606,809 $ 2,573,396 $ 33,413 1.3 %
Other Financing Uses 804 12,000 (11,196) (93.3) %
Ending Fund Balance 84,350 144,143 (59,793) (41.5) %

Total $ 2,691,963 $ 2,729,539 $ (37,576) (1.4) %

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the District.  Revenues increased by $53.7 million or 2.3% 
from the previous year.  The increase is primarily due to a slight increase in the Base Student Allocation (BSA) 
and other State Categoricals.

Expenditures increased by $33.4 million or 1.3% from the previous year. The increase in expenditures can be 
attributed to the increases in health insurance costs and increased payments to the growing number of charter 
schools.

Ending Fund Balance decreased by $(59.8) million or (41.5)% primarily due to a shortfall in the collection of 
property tax revenues and increased costs.

General

Fund

General

Fund

CHANGES IN GENERAL FUND ACTIVITY
For Fiscal Years 2012/13 and 2011/12

($ in millions)
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GENERAL FUND (continued)
Revenues By Source

Revenues - Overall revenues increased by $53.7 million or 2.3% as follows:

REVENUES BY SOURCE
For Fiscal Years 2012/13 and 2011/12

($ in thousands)

Sources 2012/13 2011/12

Difference
Increase

(Decrease)

%
Increase

(Decrease)

Federal $ 19,815 $ 19,121 $ 694      3.6 %

State 1,122,937 1,063,385 59,552      5.6 %

Local 1,254,240 1,260,803 (6,563) (0.5) %

Total $ 2,396,992 $ 2,343,309 $ 53,683      2.3 %

Federal sources increased slightly by $.7 million or 3.6% from the prior year.  This 
increase was primarily due to an increase in Medicaid reimbursement.

State sources increased by $59.6 million or 5.6% from the prior year. This increase was primarily due to increases in 
FEFP funding and other State Categoricals.  

Local sources decreased by $(6.6) million or (0.5)% from the prior year. This decrease was primarily due to a reduction in 
property taxes due to a lower tax roll resulting from the real estate market decline together with reductions in investment 
interest revenue.  These declines were partially offset by increases in other local revenues.

Expenditures By Function

Expenditures - Overall expenditures increased by $33.4 million or 1.3% 
as follows:

EXPENDITURES BY FUNCTION
For Fiscal Years 2012/13 and 2011/12

($ in thousands)

Functions 2012/13 2011/12

Difference
Increase

(Decrease)

%
Increase

(Decrease)

School Level 
Services $ 2,453,509 $ 2,428,682 $   24,827 1.0 %

Instructional 
Support Services 53,502 50,437     3,065 6.1 %

Business Services/
Central Adm. 67,534 71,175

                   
(3,641) (5.1) %

School Board 6,362 6,210        152 2.4 %

General 
Administration 4,570 5,007      (437) (8.7) %

Facilities & Other 
Capital Outlay 21,332 11,885   9,447 79.5 %

Total $ 2,606,809 $ 2,573,396 $ 33,413 1.3 %

Salaries and fringe benefits represent the most significant expenditures of the District specifically as it relates to school 
level expenditures.  During the 2012-13 fiscal year, the administration continued its efforts to meet the financial challenges 
of revenue losses and increased costs by creating efficiencies that reduced administration costs, and continued the 
moratorium on the purchases of items deemed non-essential.

School Level 
Services

Instructional 
Support Services

Business Svcs./
Central Adm.

School Board

General
Administration

Facilities & Other 
Capital Outlay

LocalStateFederal

2453.5 

53.5
67.5

6.4 4.6 21.3

19.8

1,122.9
1,254.2
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OTHER FEDERAL PROGRAMS

While the primary sources of revenue for this fund are federal grants, some state and local grants are included.  
Grants included in this fund, both entitlement and competitive, have restrictions on how the grant proceeds may 
be used.  These restrictions are established by the grantor agencies or organizations.  As a result, in compliance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, revenues in this fund are recognized only to the extent that eligible 
expenditures have been incurred.  Therefore, no fund balance is recognized. 

FEDERAL ECONOMIC STIMULUS FUNDS

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 the District received $45.1 million in Federal Economic Stimulus Funds. 
Of this amount $30.1 million was in Race to the Top (RTTT) grants.  RTTT is a program designed to spur reforms 
in state and local district K-12 education.

AMERICAN RECOVERY AND REINVESTMENT ACT (ARRA) ECONOMIC STIMULUS DEBT 
SERVICE FUND

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) Economic Stimulus Debt Service Fund was established 
for Debt Services for American Recovery and Reinvestment Act school construction bonds.

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT-LOCAL OPTIONAL MILLAGE LEVY (LOML)

Capital Improvement - Local Optional Millage Levy (LOML) funds constitute the primary source of revenue in 
the Capital Budget.  The Florida Legislature decreased the maximum allowable millage to be used for capital 
purposes from 1.75 mills to 1.50 mills in the 2009-10 fiscal year with the flexibility of shifting 0.25 mills back to 
the operating budget.  For the 2012-13 fiscal year the District availed itself of 0.061 of the 0.25 mills flexibility 
provided by law.  Total fund balance of $34.5 million represents a reduction of $(22.1) million or (39.0)% from the 
previous year related to the reduction in property tax revenues.  The total $34.5 million fund balance is restricted 
for capital projects. 

CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION (COPs) FUNDS
Certificates of Participation (COPs) Funds are a funding mechanism that provides funds for the construction of 
new facilities or for the purchase of vehicles, furniture and fixtures.  Ending fund balances in the fiscal year 2012-
2013 totaled 15.8 million compared to 30.9 million in the previous year representing a reduction of 15.1 million or 
49% primarily due to a significant reduction in the construction program resulting from decreased revenues and 
debt limitations.  Total fund balance is restricted for capital projects according to legal restrictions imposed by the 
COPs Master Lease Agreement and Trust Indenture.
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BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS
Most District operations are funded in the General Fund. The majority of the General Fund revenues are distributed 
to the District through the Florida Education Finance Program (FEFP), which uses formulas to distribute state 
funds and an amount of local property taxes (i.e., required local effort) established each year by the Florida 
Legislature.  The purpose is to substantially equalize educational funding among the sixty-seven school districts 
in Florida, irrespective of differences in wealth among the districts.

Each school district retains its local property taxes, which are reported as local revenues. However, the required 
local effort portion is deducted from the district revenue generated by the State FEFP formulas. The resulting net 
revenue is reported as state revenue.

Total General Fund revenues and other financing sources during 2012-13 were $81.1 million less than the 
originally adopted budget as follows:

Federal funds were $3.0 million higher than anticipated due primarily to an increase in the Medicaid reimbursements 
of $3.5 million, and small decreases in Impact Aid, R.O.T.C. and Community Schools.

State funds were $40.7 million less than the originally adopted budget primarily due to the elimination of McKay 
Scholarships $35.2 million, a decrease in the FEFP funds received due to changes in enrollment of $6.5 million, 
and miscellaneous small adjustments totalling an increase of $1.0 million.

Local revenues were $64.4 million lower than the originally adopted budget. The decrease in local revenues from 
the originally adopted budget is primarily due to reductions in net property taxes $71.3 million, and increases in 
Community School Programs $1.0 million, and in other accounts $5.9 million.

Other Financing Services increased $21.0 million due to the increase in transfers from other funds. 

Ending fund balance as of June 30, 2013 was $84.4 million comprised of nonspendable fund balances totaling 
$7.1 million, representing inventories and prepaid items, restricted fund balance totaling $1.5 million in state 
categorical programs, assigned fund balance $17.8 million, which included rebudgets and outstanding purchase 
orders and unassigned fund balance totaling $58.0 million.

In the fiscal year 2012-13 tentative budget, the District made budgetary reductions to manage increases in costs 
that exceed $64.0 million.  In the future the District will continue to review the budget, focusing on maintaining 
essential educational services as we anticipate continuing revenue shortfalls and cost increases.
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CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets - At June 30, 2013, the District had $4.7 billion invested in different categories of capital assets, 
net of accumulated depreciation, as shown in the table below.

CAPITAL ASSET ACTIVITY
At June 30, 2013 and 2012

($ in thousands)

Categories           2012/13        2011/12

Difference
Increase

(Decrease)

%
Increase

(Decrease)

Land $ 337,181 $ 336,502 $ 679      0.2 %
Land Improvements 253,486 239,922 13,564  5.7 %
Construction in Progress 82,544 61,939 20,605   33.3 %
Building and Improvements 3,800,200 3,889,545 (89,345) (2.3) %
Furniture, Fixtures & Equipment 88,235 86,377 1,858       2.2 %
Computer Software 34,645 51,317 (16,672)  (32.5) %
Motor Vehicles 67,529 59,326 8,203 13.8 %

Total $ 4,663,820 $ 4,724,928 $ (61,108) (1.3) %

Detailed information reflecting the District’s capital asset balances and activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2013 is provided in Note 4 to the Financial Statements.
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CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION (continued)

Debt Administration - The following table represents the changes in the District’s outstanding long-term liabilities at 
fiscal year end.

CHANGES IN LONG TERM LIABILITIES
At June 30, 2013 and 2012

($ in thousands)

Categories 2012/13 2011/12

Difference
Increase

(Decrease)

%
Increase

(Decrease)

Bonds Payable $ 175,096 $ 226,235 $ (51,139) (22.6) %
Certificates of Participation

Payable by the Foundation 2,890,701 2,947,672 (56,971) (1.9) %

Derivative Instrument Liability 28,863 41,182 (12,319) (29.9) %

Capital Leases 89,332 120,096 (30,764) (25.6) %
Insurance Claims Payable 138,635 129,776 8,859 6.8 %
Retirement Incentive Benefits 1,552 2,428 (876) (36.1) %
Compensated Absences Payable 268,688 258,536 10,152 3.9 %
Other Post Employment Benefits 14,099 17,853 (3,754) (21.0) %
Interlocal Construction Contract 
Agreement 2,000 400 1,600 400.0 %

Total $ 3,608,966 $ 3,744,178 $ (135,212) (3.6) %

Overall liabilities decreased by $(135.2) million or (3.6)% from the prior year.  The most significant reductions are 
reflected in Bonds Payable of $(51.1) million, Certificates of Participation of $(57.0) million, and Capital Leases of 
$(30.8) million.  These reductions are primarily due to repayment of existing debt. 

Detailed information relating to changes in long-term liabilities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 is provided in 
Note 14 to the Financial Statements.
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ECONOMIC FACTORS

The State of Florida, by constitution, does not have a state personal income tax and therefore, the state operates 
primarily using sales, gasoline and corporate income taxes.  Despite a slow economic recovery and continued 
funding challenges, the District, through prudent fiscal management, maintains a healthy financial position to 
provide the quality education deserved by every child.

CONTACTING MANAGEMENT

The District’s financial statements are designed to present citizens, taxpayers, investors, and creditors with a general 
overview of the District’s finances and to show the District’s accountability for the money it receives. Additional 
information can be requested at:

The School Board of Miami-Dade County
School Board Administration Building

Office of the Controller
1450 N.E. 2nd Avenue

Room 664
Miami, Florida 33132
or visit our website at:

http://www.dadeschools.net
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES: 
 

A. Reporting Entity 
 

The School Board of Miami-Dade County, Florida (the “School Board,” “Board,” or the 
“District”) is composed of nine members elected from single-member districts within the 
legal boundary of Miami-Dade County, Florida (the “County”). The appointed 
Superintendent of Schools is the executive officer of the Board.  The School Board is 
part of the state system of public education under the general direction of the State 
Board of Education and is financially dependent on state support.  However, the Board 
is considered a primary government for financial reporting purposes because it is 
directly responsible for the operation and control of District schools within the framework 
of applicable state law and State Board of Education rules and it is not considered to be 
an agency or component unit of the State of Florida.  
 
The general operating authority of the School Board and the Superintendent is 
contained in Chapters 1000 through 1013, Florida Statutes.  Pursuant to Section 
1010.01, Florida Statutes, the Superintendent of Schools is responsible for keeping 
records and accounts of all financial transactions in the manner prescribed by the State 
Board of Education. 
 
The accompanying financial statements include those of the District (the primary 
government) and its component unit, The Miami-Dade County School Board, Inc. (the 
“Foundation”). Component units are legally separate organizations which should be 
included in the District’s financial statements because of the nature and significance of 
their relationship with the primary government. 
 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement No. 61, The 
Financial Reporting Entity:  Omnibus, an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14 and No. 
34.  The Statement modifies the existing criteria for reporting component units.  The 
Statement provides guidance on the inclusion of a legally separate entity to be included 
as a component unit under the misleading to exclude criterion and the financial 
accountability concept, which requires that in addition to meeting the fiscal dependency 
criterion, a financial benefit or burden relationship be present in order for a potential 
component unit to be included in the financial reporting entity.  
 
The District adopted GASB Statement No. 61 in the 2012-13 fiscal year financial 
statements.  Based on the application of the Statement, the District determined that 
charter schools do not meet the criteria to qualify as component units of the District; 
therefore they are not included in the District’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
(CAFR).  Audits of the Charter Schools are conducted by independent certified public 
accountants and are filed in the Charter Schools Support office located at 1450 N.E. 2nd 
Avenue, Room 806, Miami, Florida 33132.  
 
Based on the application of the above GASB Statement criteria, the following 
component unit is included within the District’s reporting entity: 
 
Blended Component Units 
 
The Miami-Dade County School Board Foundation, Inc., a Florida not-for-profit 
corporation, was created solely to facilitate financing for the acquisition and construction 
of District school facilities and related costs. The members of the School Board serve as 
the Board of the Foundation, therefore, the School Board is considered financially 
accountable for the Foundation.  The financial activities of the Foundation have been 
blended (reported as if it were part of the District) with those of the District. 

 



 THE SCHOOL BOARD OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA  
 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 
 

35 
   

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued: 
 
B. Basis of Presentation  

 
The District’s accounting policies conform with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States applicable to state and local governmental units. Accordingly, the 
basic financial statements include both the government-wide and fund financial 
statements. 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements – The Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Activities present information about the financial activities of the District as 
a whole, and its component unit, excluding fiduciary activities.  Eliminations have been 
made from the statements to remove the “doubling-up” effect of interfund activity. 

 
The Statement of Activities reports expenses identified by specific functions, offset by 
program revenues, resulting in a measurement of “net (expense) revenue” for each of 
the District’s functions.  Program revenues that are used to offset these expenses 
include charges for services, such as food service and tuition fees; operating grants, 
such as the National School Lunch Program, Federal Grants, and other state 
allocations; and capital grants specific to capital outlay.  In addition, revenues not 
classified as program revenues are shown as general revenues. 

 
Fund Financial Statements – The fund financial statements provide information about 
the District’s funds, including proprietary and fiduciary funds.  Separate statements for 
governmental, proprietary and fiduciary funds are presented. The emphasis of the fund 
financial statements is on the major funds which are presented in a separate column 
with all non-major funds aggregated in a single column. 
 
The District reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
General Fund is the District’s primary operating fund and accounts for all financial 
resources of the District, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
Other Federal Programs accounts for and reports grant funds received from federal, 
state, and local sources. 
 
Federal Economic Stimulus Funds account for and report on funds received from The 
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 to stimulate the economy, save jobs 
and improve education.  This fund did not meet the minimum criteria for major fund 
determination during fiscal year 2013.  However, it will continue to be presented as a 
major fund for the purpose of consistency and at the discretion of the District. 
 
ARRA Economic Stimulus Debt Service Fund accounts for and reports on Debt Service 
for American Recovery and Reinvestment Act school construction bonds. This fund did 
not meet the minimum criteria for major fund determination during fiscal year 2013.  
However, it will continue to be presented as a major fund for the purpose of consistency 
and at the discretion of the District. 
 
Capital Improvement – Local Optional Millage Levy (LOML) Funds account for and 
report on funds levied by the school district, as authorized by Capital Improvement, 
Section 1011.71, Florida Statutes mainly for capital outlay purposes.  This fund did not 
meet the minimum criteria for major fund determination during fiscal year 2013.  
However, it will continue to be presented as a major fund for the purpose of consistency 
and at the discretion of the District. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued: 
 
B. Basis of Presentation - continued  

 
Certificates of Participation (COPs) Funds account for and report on funds received from 
the issuance of Certificates of Participation, used for the acquisition and construction of  
schools and ancillary schools.  Also included are the Qualified Zone Academy Bonds 
used for renovations on existing schools.  Given the importance of the COPs Funds, 
management has elected to consider these funds as a major fund. 

 
ARRA Economic Stimulus Capital Projects Funds account for and report on proceeds 
received from the issuance of Qualified School Construction Bonds (QSCBs) and Build 
America Bonds (BABs) used for the construction, rehabilitation and/or repair of school 
facilities. This fund did not meet the minimum criteria for major fund determination during 
fiscal year 2013.  However, it will continue to be presented as a major fund for the 
purpose of consistency and at the discretion of the District. 
 
Additionally, the District reports separately the following proprietary and fiduciary fund 
types: 
 
Internal Service Fund accounts for and reports on the activities of the District’s group 
health self-insurance program. 
 
 
Agency Fund – School’s Internal Fund accounts for resources of the schools’ Internal 
Fund which is used to administer monies collected at the schools in connection with 
school, student athletics, class, and club activities.  
 
Pension Trust Fund accounts for resources used to finance the District’s Supplemental 
Early Retirement Plan. 

 
C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its 
measurement focus.  The basis of accounting refers to when revenues and 
expenditures, or expenses are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial 
statements.  Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the measurement made, 
regardless of the measurement focus applied. 
 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when 
earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is incurred, regardless of the timing 
of related cash flows.  Revenues from non-exchange transactions are reported in 
accordance with GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Non-
Exchange Transactions, as amended by GASB Statement No. 36, Recipient Reporting 
for Certain Shared Non-Exchange Revenues, which include, taxes, grants and 
donations.  On the accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal 
year for which the taxes are levied.  Revenues from grants and donations are 
recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the 
modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to 
accrual, that is, when they become measurable and available. “Measurable” means the 
amount of the transaction can be determined; “available” means collectible within the 
current period or soon thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued: 
 

C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting – continued  
 
Property taxes, when levied for, and intergovernmental revenues when eligibility 
requirements have been met, are the significant revenue sources considered susceptible 
to accrual. The School Board considers property taxes, when levied for, as available if 
they are collected within 60 days after fiscal year-end.  A one-year availability period is 
used for revenue recognition for all other governmental fund revenues.  Charges for 
services and fees are recognized when cash is collected as amounts are not measurable. 
Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, expenditures are generally recognized 
when the related fund liability is incurred. The principal exceptions to this general rule 
are: (1) interest on general long-term debt is recognized as expenditures when due/paid; 
and (2) expenditures related to liabilities reported as general long-term debt are 
recognized when due. 
 
Proprietary Fund – Proprietary funds are accounted for in accordance with the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, GASB issued Statement No. 62, 
Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-
November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements.  During the fiscal year 2009-
10, the District established an Internal Service Fund to account for the group health self-
insurance program.  The Internal Service Fund financial statements are reported using 
the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating 
items.   

 
The principal operating revenues of the District’s Internal Service Fund for self-
insurance are charges to the District’s other funds for health insurance.  The principal 
operating expenses include insurance claims, administrative expenses and fees.  All 
revenues and expenses not meeting these definitions are reported as non-operating 
revenues and expenses. 
 
The Pension Trust Fund is reported using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting.  With this measurement focus, all assets and all 
liabilities associated with the operation of this fund are included on the Statement of 
Fiduciary Net Position. The Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position presents 
additions and deductions in fund equity (total net position). 
 

D. New Pronouncements – Adopted and Unadopted  
 
 The GASB issued Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting 

Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements in 
December 2010.  This Statement codifies all sources of generally accepted accounting 
principles for state and local governments so that they derive from a single source. 
 
The GASB issued Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of 
Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Positions effective for reporting 
periods beginning after December 15, 2011.  The statement provides guidance for 
reporting deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and net position 
in a statement of financial position and related disclosures.  The District adopted GASB 
63 in the 2012-13 fiscal year financial statements and reclassified the prior net assets as 
net positions. In the statement of net position, assets, plus deferred outflows of 
resources, less liabilities, less deferred inflows of resources, equals net position.  
 
The GASB issued Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities 
in March 2012.  The provisions of this Statement are effective for financial statements for 
periods beginning after December 15, 2012. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued: 
 
D. New Pronouncements – Adopted and Unadopted - continued  
 

The GASB issued Statement No. 66, Technical Corrections-2012 (an amendment of 
GASB Statements No. 10 and No. 62 in March 2012. The provisions of this Statement 
are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after December 15, 2012. 

 
The GASB issued Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans (an 
amendment of GASB Statement No. 25 in June 2012.  This Statement is effective for 
financial statements for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2013. 
 
The GASB issued Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions 
(an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27) in June 2012.  This Statement is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2014.  The adoption of this Statement will require 
the District to record a liability for the unfunded portion of its cost sharing plan.  The 
unfunded portion has not yet been determined. 
 
The impact on the District’s financial position or results of operations has not yet been 
determined for the unadopted standards. 
 

E. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments 
 
The District maintains an accounting system in which substantially all general School 
Board cash, investments, and accrued interest are recorded and maintained in a 
separate group of accounts.  Investment income is allocated based on the proportionate 
balances of each fund’s equity in pooled cash and investments. The cash and 
investment pool is available for all funds, except the State Board of Education Bonds,  
Certificates of Participation and other debt related funds requiring separate accounts. 

 
Cash deposits are held by banks qualified as public depositories under Florida law.  All 
deposits are insured by federal depository insurance and/or collateralized with securities  
held in Florida’s multiple financial institution collateral pool as required by Florida 
Statutes, Chapter 280.  Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, 
demand deposits, non-marketable time deposits with maturities of three months or less  
when purchased, and money market/saving accounts.  
 
Investments are carried at fair value and include U.S. Agency obligations, Commercial 
Paper, Money Market Mutual Funds, Time Deposits and Guaranteed Investment 
Contract.  Pension Trust Fund investments are recorded at fair value and include: U.S. 
Agency obligations, corporate bonds, money market funds, and corporate stocks. 

 
F. Inventory 

 
Inventories consist of expendable supplies held for consumption in the course of the 
District’s operations.  Inventories are stated at cost, principally on a weighted average 
cost basis.  Commodities from the United States Department of Agriculture are stated at 
their fair value as determined at the time of donation by the Florida Department of 
Agriculture and Consumer Services. Commodities inventory is accounted for using the 
“purchases” method that expense inventory when acquired and inventories on hand at 
fiscal year end are reported as an asset and nonspendable fund balance, net of 
amounts in Accounts Payable.  Non-commodity inventory is accounted for under the 
consumption method and as such is recorded as an expenditure when used.  Since 
inventories of commodities also involve purpose restrictions they are presented as 
restricted in the government-wide statement of net position. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued: 
 
G. Due From Other Governments or Agencies 

 
Amounts due to the District by other governments or agencies relate to grants or 
programs for which the services have been provided to students of the District. 

 
H. Other Assets 

 
Other assets consist mainly of prepaid expenses which are recognized upon the receipt 
of the goods or services that were received but not consumed at year-end.  The 
expenditure will be recorded when the asset is used.  Accordingly, prepaid expenses are 
equally offset by a nonspendable fund balance classification.  
 

I. Restricted Net Position 
 
Certain proceeds from bonds and Certificates of Participation (COPs) issuances, as well 
as resources for debt service payments and food service, are classified as restricted net 
assets on the Statement of Net Position because their use is limited by applicable bond 
covenants and other legal restrictions.  
 
When both restricted and unrestricted assets are available for a specific purpose, it is 
the District’s policy to use restricted assets first, until exhausted, before using 
unrestricted resources. 

 
J. Capital Assets 

 
Capital assets which include, land, land improvements, construction in progress, 
buildings, building improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment, computer software, 
and motor vehicles are reported in the Statement of Net Position in the government-wide 
statements.  The District’s capitalization thresholds are $1,000 or greater for furniture, 
fixtures and equipment and $50,000 for building improvements, additions, and other 
capital outlays that significantly extend the useful life of an asset.  Other costs incurred 
for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.  Assets are recorded at historical 
cost.  Assets purchased under capital leases are recorded at cost, which approximates 
fair value at acquisition date and does not exceed the present value of future minimum  
lease payments.  Donated assets are recorded at the fair value at the time of receipt.  
Certain costs incurred in connection with the development of internal use software are 
capitalized and amortized in accordance with GASB Statement No. 51, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Intangible Assets and are reflected in the government-wide 
financial statements. 
 
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method based on the following 
estimated useful lives: 

  Useful Life (Years) 
Buildings and Improvements  20 – 50 
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment  5 – 20 
Vehicles  7 – 18 
Computer Software  5 years 

 
When capital assets are sold or disposed of, the related cost and accumulated 
depreciation are removed from the accounts, and the resulting gain or loss is recorded 
in the government-wide statements.  Proceeds received from the sale or disposal of 
capital assets are recorded as Other Financing Sources in the governmental funds. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued: 
 
K. Long-Term Debt and Compensated Absences 

 
The government-wide financial statements report long-term liabilities or obligations that 
are expected to be paid in the future. Long-term liabilities reported include bonds, 
Certificates of Participation (COPs), derivative instrument liabilities, capital leases, 
insurance claims payable, vested vacation and sick pay benefits, estimate for 
anticipated non-vested sick pay benefits, interlocal construction contract liabilities and 
postretirement benefits payable in future years.  Bond premiums/discounts are 
amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective-interest method; while deferred 
gain/loss on advance refundings and issuance costs are amortized over the shorter of 
the remaining life of the refunded bonds or the life of the new bonds in a systematic and 
rational method, which approximates the effective-interest method. 
 
In the fund financial statements, bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance 
costs are recognized in the period the related debt is issued.  Proceeds, premiums, and 
discounts are reported as other financing sources and uses.  Principal payments and 
Issuance costs are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 

 L. Risk Management 
  

The District is self-insured for portions of its general and automobile liability insurance 
and workers’ compensation.  Claim activity (expenditures for general and automobile 
liability and workers’ compensation) is recorded in the general fund as payments 
become due each period.  The estimated liability for self-insured risks represents an 
estimate of the amount to be paid on insurance claims reported and on insurance claims 
incurred but not reported (See note 13).  For the governmental funds, in the fund 
financial statements, the liability for self-insured risks is considered long-term and 
therefore, is not a fund liability (except for any amounts due and payable at year end) 
and represents a reconciling item between the fund level and government-wide 
presentations. 
 
The District provides health insurance for its employees and eligible dependents.  
Effective January 1, 2010, the district changed from a fully insured plan to a self-insured 
plan, with individual, as well as aggregate stop loss coverage to protect the District 
against catastrophic claims in a calendar year.  The District accounts for health 
insurance activity in an internal service fund established for this purpose.  In the 
proprietary fund financial statements, the liability for self-insured health risks is recorded 
under the accrual basis of accounting. 
 

M. State Revenue Sources 
 
Revenues from state sources for current operations are primarily from the Florida 
Education Finance Program (FEFP), administered by the Florida Department of 
Education (FDOE), under the provisions of Section 1011.62, Florida Statutes. The 
District files reports on full-time equivalent (FTE) student membership with the FDOE. 
The FDOE accumulates information from these reports and calculates the allocation of 
FEFP funds to the District. After review and verification of FTE reports and supporting 
documentation, the FDOE may adjust subsequent fiscal period allocations of FEFP 
funding for prior year errors disclosed by its review as well as to prevent statewide 
allocations from exceeding the amount authorized by the Legislature.  Normally, such 
adjustments are treated as reductions of revenue in the year the adjustment is made. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued: 
 
M. State Revenue Sources - Continued 

 
The District receives revenue from the state to administer certain educational programs. 
State Board of Education rules require that revenue earmarked for these programs be 
expended only for the program for which the money is provided and require that the 
money not expended as of the close of the fiscal year be carried forward into the 
following year to be expended for the same educational programs. Any unused money is 
returned to the FDOE and so recorded in the year when returned.  Revenue is 
recognized when all eligibility requirement have been met. 
 
The state allocates gross receipt taxes, generally known as Public Education Capital 
Outlay (PECO) money, to the District on an annual basis for capital and other projects. 
The District is authorized to expend these funds only upon applying for and receiving an 
encumbrance authorization from the FDOE.  The District received PECO appropriations 
during the 2012-13 fiscal year, solely for the distribution to the District’s eligible Charter 
Schools. 
 

N. Property Taxes – Revenue Recognition 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, property tax revenue is recognized in the 
fiscal year when levied for. The receivable is recorded net of an estimated uncollectible 
amount, which is based on past collection experience.  In the fund financial statements, 
property tax revenue is recognized in the fiscal year when levied for. Taxes are 
susceptible to accrual, that is when they are measurable and available. Taxes collected 
by the County Tax Collector and received by the District within 60 days subsequent to 
fiscal year-end are considered to be available and recognized as revenue. 

 
O. Deferred/Unearned Revenue 

 
Deferred revenue in the governmental fund financial statements relate to property taxes 
receivable that are measurable, but not available.  The unearned revenue in the 
Statement of Net Position primarily relates to the lease of Educational Broadband 
Service (EBS) licenses that will be amortized on a straight line basis over the life of the 
lease agreement. 
 

P. Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported 
amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting period.  Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 
 

Q. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 

The District implemented GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred 
Outflows of Revenues, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position.  The statement 
of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of 
resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, 
represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not 
be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  The District 
currently reports accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives in this 
category. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued: 
  

Q. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources – Continued 
 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement 
element, deferred inflows of resources represents an acquisition of net position that 
applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that time.  The District currently does not have any items that qualify for 
reporting in this category 

      
R. Fund Balances 
 

GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type 
Definitions, establishes accounting and financial reporting standards for governmental 
funds.  It establishes criteria for classifying fund balances into specifically defined 
classifications and clarifies definitions for governmental fund types.  Fund balances for 
governmental funds are reported in classifications that comprise a hierarchy based 
primarily on the extent to which the government is bound to honor constraints on the 
uses of those resources. 
 
GASB Statement No. 54 requires the fund balance to be properly reported within one of 
the fund balance categories listed below: 

 
Nonspendable – Fund balance amounts that cannot be spent because they are 
not expected to be converted to cash or they are legally or contractually required to 
be maintained intact.  Examples of this classification are prepaid items, inventories, 
and the principal of an endowment fund. 

 
Spendable Fund Balance 

Restricted – Fund balance amounts on which constraints have been placed by 
creditors, grantors, contributors, laws or regulations of other governments, 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Committed – Fund balance amounts that can only be used for specific purposes 
pursuant to constraints imposed by the formal action (Board Resolution) of the 
highest level of decision-making authority (The School Board).  The amounts 
cannot be used for any other purpose unless the School Board removes or 
changes the specified use by taking the same formal action (Board Resolution) it 
employed to commit the amounts. 

 
Assigned – Fund balance amounts intended to be used for specific purposes 
but are neither restricted nor committed.  Assigned amounts include those that 
have been set aside for a specific purpose by actions of the School Board or 
Superintendent and not included in other categories. 

 
Unassigned – Includes residual positive fund balance within the General Fund 
which has not been classified within the other above mentioned categories.  
Unassigned fund balance may also include negative balances for any 
governmental fund if expenditures exceed amounts restricted, committed, or 
assigned for those specific purposes. 
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2. BUDGETS COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY: 
 
A. Legal Compliance 

 
The annual budget is submitted to the Florida Commissioner of Education by major 
functional levels such as instructional, instructional support, general administration, 
maintenance, etc.  Expenditures may not exceed appropriations without prior approval 
of the School Board in the General Fund and Special Revenue Funds at the function 
level. Budgetary control is exercised at the fund level for all other funds. 
 
Florida Statutes, Section 1013.61, requires that the capital outlay budget designate the 
proposed capital outlay expenditures by project for the year from all fund sources. 
Accordingly, annual budgets for the Capital Project Funds are adopted on a combined 
basis only. 
 
Budgeted amounts may be amended by resolution of the Board at any Board meeting 
prior to the due date for the Annual Financial Report (State Report). General Fund 
budgetary disclosure in the accompanying financial statements reflects the final budget 
including all amendments approved at the School Board meeting of September 3, 2013 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013.  
 
Appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end, except for unexpended appropriations of state 
educational grants, outstanding purchase orders, contracts, and certain available 
balances. These balances are reflected at year-end either as restricted or assigned fund 
balance, and are re-appropriated in the new fiscal year. 
 
Encumbrance accounting is employed in governmental funds.  Encumbrances (e.g., 
purchase orders, contracts) outstanding at year-end are reported as restricted or 
assigned fund balance and do not constitute expenditures or liabilities because the 
commitments will be reappropriated and honored during the subsequent year. 
 

B. Comparison of Budget to Actual Results 
 
The budgets for each of the Governmental Funds are accounted for on the modified 
accrual basis of accounting. 
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3. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS: 
 
Deposits and Investments 
 
The District’s surplus funds are invested directly by the District’s Office of Treasury 
Management.  Investments of the District’s State Board of Education (SBE) bond proceeds held 
and administered by the SBE are made by the State Board of Administration. 
 
As authorized under State Statutes the School Board has adopted Board Policy 6144, 
Investments as its formal Investment Policy for all surplus funds, except for the Supplemental 
Early Retirement Funds, which are invested under Board Policy 6535, Supplemental Early 
Retirement Plan.   Board Policy 6144, Investments policies permit the following investments and 
are structured to place the highest priority on the safety of principal and liquidity of funds: 
 

• Time Deposits – School Board and State approved designated depository 

• U.S. Government direct obligations 

• Revolving Repurchase Agreements or similar investment vehicles for the investment of 
funds awaiting clearance with financial institutions 

• Commercial Paper rated A1/P1/F1 or better 

• Bankers Acceptances with the 100 largest banks in the world 

• State Board of Administration Local Government Investment Pool 

• Obligations of the Federal Farm Credit Bank 

• Obligations of the Federal Home Loan Bank 

• Obligations of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 

• Obligations of the Federal National Mortgage Association 

• Obligations guaranteed by the Government National Mortgage Association 

• Securities of any investment company of investment trust registered under the 
Investment Company Act of 1940, 15 U.S.C. 

 
In addition, under Board Policy 6535, Supplemental Early Retirement Plan, the following 
investments are also permitted. 

• Corporate or Taxable Government Bonds rated investment grade 
• Equity Securities including index funds and actively managed mutual funds 
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3. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS, Continued: 
 
Cash, cash equivalents, and investments for governmental, fiduciary and proprietary funds of the 
District as of June 30, 2013 are as follows: 
 

 
 

Investment Type 

  
Amount 

($ in thousands) 

 Weighted 
Average 

Maturity (Years)

     

Commercial Paper $ 116,622  0.06 

Guaranteed Investment Contract (GIC)  41,894  3.04 

Money Market Mutual Funds  4,270  0.15 

State Board of Education – COBI  1,462   

Time Deposits 13,060  0.25 

U.S. Government Agency 72,031  0.45 

U.S. Treasury Strip 1,286  16.14 

Total Debt Investments 250,625  0.76 

Corporate Stocks – Pension Trust Fund  15,456   

Total Investments 266,082   

Cash and Cash Equivalents  75,943   

Total Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments $ 342,024   

 
At June 30, 2013, $31.0 million in cash and investments relate to unspent debt proceeds 
pertaining to various financings including Certificates of Participation (COPs), which are 
restricted assets whose use is limited to projects primarily related to the acquisition and 
construction of school facilities and equipment as authorized by Board Resolutions and Debt 
Covenants.   
 
The Total Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments of $342,024 million at June 30, 2013, was 
comprised of $253,767 million in Governmental Funds, $40,954 in Proprietary Fund - Health 
Insurance Fund, $24,555 million in Fiduciary Funds - Pension Trust Fund and $22,748 million in 
Fiduciary Fund - Agency Fund (Schools’ internal Fund).  
 
The School Board of Miami-Dade County currently has 4 GIC’s associated with its Qualified Zone 
Academy Bonds (QZAB’s).  These contracts total approximately $41,894 (in thousands) with 
internal rates of return ranging from 3.53% to 6.30% and maturity dates from December 2013 
through December 2022. 
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3. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS, Continued: 
 
Interest Rate Risk:  In accordance with its investment policy under Board Policy 6144, 
Investments, the School Board manages its exposure to declines in fair values by substantially 
limiting the weighted average maturity on all investments to one year or less.  U.S. Government 
Agency Securities include $53 million in callable bonds between October 2013 through February 
2014, and as such the weighted average maturity reflect the call date as the maturity date for 
these securities. The calculated weighted average maturity for all callable U.S. Government 
Agency Securities is 163 days. 
 
Credit Risk:  In accordance with Board Policy 6144, the School Board manages its exposure to 
credit risk by limiting investments to the highest rated government backed securities such as 
Government Agencies and Treasury Notes.  The policy also requires Commercial Paper to be 
rated A-1 or better, and Money Market Mutual Funds rated AAAm. 
 

 
Investment Type 

 
Rating * 

Percentage of Debt 
Investments 

     

Commercial Paper A-1+ 35.00 % 
Commercial Paper A-1 8.83% 
Federal Farm Credit Bank Agency AA+ 1.13% 
Federal Home Loan Bank Agency AA+ 14.12% 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Agency AA+ 9.56% 
Federal National Mortgage Association Agency AA+ 2.27% 
Guaranteed Investment Contract Not Rated 15.74% 
Money Market Mutual Funds AAAm 1.60% 
State Board of Education – COBI Not Rated 0.55% 
Time Deposits N/A 4.91% 
U.S. Treasury Strip AAA 0.48% 
     

*  Standards & Poor’s ratings as of June 30, 2013. 
 
Concentration Risks:  In accordance with Board Policy 6144, the District permits investments 
of up to 7.5% of the total portfolio in Commercial Paper with a single issuer and 60% in total, 
30% in Federal Farm Credit Bank, 30% in Federal Home Loan Bank, 30% in Federal Home 
Loan Mortgage Corporation, 30% in Federal National Mortgage Association agency securities, 
10% in Time Deposits with a single issuer, and unlimited U.S. Treasury Notes as well as 
Government Obligations Money Market Mutual Funds.  Although all the investments were 
purchased within the established percentage threshold when compared to entire portfolio 
including cash equivalents as permitted by the policy, commercial paper investments with FCAR, 
GECC, and Toyota ended the year at 9.96%, 12.01%, and 8.71% of outstanding investments 
respectively due to the normal decrease of the portfolio’s total value as other investments 
matured during the course of the year.  
 
Custodial Risk:  All securities in accordance with the District’s investment policy under Policy 
6144, with the exception of time deposits and guaranteed investment contract, are held by a 
third party custodian in an account separate and apart from the assets of the custodian and 
designated as assets of the District. 
 
Cash/Deposits  
 
The District’s cash deposits include money market/savings, demand deposits and petty cash.  
All bank balances of the District are fully insured or collateralized as required by Florida Statutes, 
Chapter 280. At June 30, 2013, the deposit’s fair value and book balances were $75,943 (in 
thousands).  
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS:  
 
Capital asset balances and activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 are as follows (in 
thousands): 
 

  Balance 
July 1, 2012   Additions/ 

Transfers
  Deletions/ 

Transfers 
  Balance 

June 30, 2013 
Non-Depreciable 
 Capital Assets:            
Land $ 336,502  $ 679  $ -  $ 337,181 

Land Improvements  239,922   13,564   -   253,486 

Construction-in-Progress  61,939   112,750   (92,145)   82,544 
Total Non-Depreciable 
 Capital Assets   638,363   126,993   (92,145)   673,211 

           

Depreciable  
Capital Assets:           

Buildings and     
    Improvements      5,447,679   65,060   (2,977)   5,509,762 
Furniture, Fixtures, and 

Equipment  316,662   23,884   (23,005)   317,541 

Computer Software  83,362   -   -   83,362 

Motor Vehicles  130,724   18,090   (8,669)   140,145 
Total Depreciable 
 Capital Assets  5,978,427   107,034   (34,651)

   6,050,810
 

           

Less Accumulated 
 Depreciation/ 
    Amortization for: 

          

Building and Improvements  1,558,134   154,400   (2,973)   1,709,561
Furniture, Fixtures, and 

Equipment  230,285   19,768   (20,747)   229,306 

Computer Software  32,045   16,673   -   48,718 

Motor Vehicles  71,398   8,244   (7,026)   72,616 
Total Accumulated 

Depreciation/ 
    Amortization  1,891,862   199,085   (30,746)   2,060,201
Net Capital Assets $ 4,724,928  $ 34,942  $ (96,050)  $ 4,663,820

 
 

In fiscal year 2013, management evaluated and determined that certain capital asset construction-in-
progress amounts from prior years were not properly accumulated and recorded in the Government-
Wide financial statements.  Consequently, management has adjusted capital asset construction-in-
progress additions, in the amount of approximately $55 million to correctly reflect the previously 
misclassified amounts.   
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS, Continued:  
 

For fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, depreciation/amortization by function is as follows: 
 

 
Functions   Amount 

($ in thousands) 
    

Instructional Services  $ 2,502 

Instructional Support Services   1,279 

Pupil Transportation Services   6,877 

Operation and Maintenance of Plant   1,280 

School Administration   190 

General Administration   141 

Business/Central Services   208 

Food Services   1,085 

Other   8 

Facilities Acquisition and Construction   28,280 

Unallocated to a specific function   157,235 

Total Depreciation/Amortization  $ 199,085 
 
 
Construction-in-progress, as of June 30, 2013, is comprised of the following (in thousands): 
 

  Incurred 
To Date 

   

Elementary Schools $ 15,011 

Middle Schools  273 

Senior High Schools  66,699 

Special Schools  132 

Administration/Other  429 

TOTAL $ 82,544 
 

 
As part of its capital outlay program, the District has entered into various construction contracts.  
At June 30, 2013, the District had construction commitments of approximately $31.2 million. 
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5. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS: 
 

Interfund receivables and payables consisted of the following balances as of June 30, 2013 (in 
thousands): 

  Due From 
Other Funds 

  Due To 
Other Funds 

Major Funds:      

General Fund $ 38,090  $ - 

Certificates of Participation  -   2,902 

Other Federal Programs  -   22,878 

Federal Economic Stimulus Funds  -   1,608 

Total Major Funds  38,090   27,388 

Non-major Funds  -   10,702 

Total Governmental Funds $ 38,090 $ 38,090 

 
Interfund receivables/payables are short-term balances that represent reimbursements between 
funds for payments made by one fund on behalf of another fund. 
 
A summary of transfers for the year ended June 30, 2013 are as follows (in thousands): 
 

Transfers to: 
 

 
 
 

Transfers from: 

 
 

General 
Fund 

ARRA  
Economic  
Stimulus 

  Debt Service 

 
 

Non-major 
Funds 

 
 

Total  

Major Funds:        

General Fund  $               - $                     - $             804  $              804  

 Capital Improvement 
LOML  123,536 1,453 150,019 275,008  

Certificates of 
Participation - - 81 81  

 ARRA  Capital  
     Projects 

  
-  846 -   

846  

Non-major Funds 14,394 - 18,699 33,093  

Total Governmental 
Funds $    137,930 $             2,299 $      169,603 $       309,832  

Internal Service Fund 12,000  - -  12,000  

Total Governmental 
Activities $    149,930   $             2,299 $      169,603   

 
$       321,832   

 
Transfers to the General Fund relate primarily to funding for the maintenance, renovation and/or 
repair of school facilities, pursuant to Section 1011.71 of the Florida Statutes. Transfers to other non-
major funds relate primarily to amount transferred to make debt service payments.  Transfers from 
the Internal Service Fund restores funding to the General Fund previously transferred to stabilize the 
Internal Service Fund.  
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6. DUE FROM/TO OTHER AGENCIES: 
  

Due from other agencies at June 30, 2013, are as follows (in thousands): 
 

 

 

General 
Fund 

  
 

Other 
Federal 

Programs  

Federal 
Economic 
Stimulus 

Funds  

Non-major 
Governmental 

Funds  

Total 
Governmental 

Funds 
           

Federal Government:           

Medicaid Federal $ 7,119 
 
 

 
$              -  $                -  $                   -  $           7,119 

 Food Service       
      Reimbursement  - 

  
-  -  16,751  16,751 

 Race to the Top  -  -  3,047  -  3,047 

 Miscellaneous Federal  153  5,727  255  -  6,135 
State Government:           

Race to the Top  -  -  1,945  -  1,945 
Adult Education  -  975  -  -  975 
IDEA   -  4,658  -  -  4,658 
Title I  -  12,317  900  -  13,217 
Title II  -  1,277  -  -  1,277 
Miscellaneous State  288  2,737  -  -  3,025 

Local Government:           
 Miscellaneous Local  4,084  1,374  -  189  5,647 
 Miami-Dade County  -  -  -  7,382  7,382 

E-Rate  3,558  -  -  -  3,558 
Clearwire Educational 
Broadband Service 

  
3,050 

  
- 

  
- 

  
- 

  
3,050 

Driver’s Education 
Program    

2,520 
  

-  -  -   
2,520 

                   Total $ 20,772  $    29,065  $         6,147  $         24,322  $         80,306 
 
 

     Due to other agencies at June 30, 2013, are as follows (in thousands): 
 

  

General 
Fund 

 

 

 
Other 

Federal 
Programs 

 

 

Non-major 
Governmental 

Funds 

 

 

Total 
Governmental 

Funds 
            

Federal Government:            
 Miscellaneous Federal $ -  $ 470  $ -  $ 470 
Local Government:           

Village of Key   
Biscayne 

 -   -   3,750   3,750 

 Charter Schools  2,500   -   -   2,500 
 Miscellaneous Local  

-
   

1,487 
   

28 
   

1,515 

                     Total $ 2,500  $ 1,957  $ 3,778  $ 8,235 
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7. SHORT-TERM DEBT 
 

Short-term debt activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, is as follows (in thousands): 
 

   Balance 
July 1, 2012

   
Additions

   
Deletions 

  Balance 
June 30, 2013

Tax Anticipation Note 
(TAN), Series 2012, issued 
on July 24, 2012, effective 
yield of 0.13%, with a 
maturity date of February 
28, 2013. 

 

$ - 

 

$
 

290,000 

 

$
 

290,000 

 

$ -
            

Total  $ -  $
 

290,000  $
 

290,000  $ -

 
 
Proceeds from the TAN were used as a working capital reserve in the General Fund as 
permitted under State and Federal tax laws. 
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8. COMPENSATED ABSENCES: 
 
The District’s employee vacation and sick leave policies provide for the granting of a specific 
number of days of vacation based on years of service governed by applicable labor contracts 
and one day of sick leave with pay per each month of employment. Active employees, excluding 
administrators, may request payment of 80% of their unused sick leave which has accumulated 
during the fiscal year, provided they have not used more than three sick/personal days during 
that time and have a remaining balance, after payment, of twenty-one days. These policies also 
provide for paying most employees unused vacation up to 60 days upon termination, and up to 
100% of unused sick leave after thirteen years of service; 50% after ten years; 45% after six 
years; 40% after three years and 35% during the first three years of qualified service upon 
retirement, death or resignation. Vacation accrual is limited to 60 days for twelve-month active 
employees. 
 
The School Board approved the adoption of the Miami-Dade County Public Schools Terminal 
Leave Retirement Program (TLRP) at its May 14, 2003 Board meeting. The TLRP Program 
consists of a tax-favored retirement plan, which allows the Board to direct accrued annual 
(vacation) leave or terminal sick leave (accrued sick days) for employees who are separating 
from service as a result of retirement, or entering into or continuing DROP, to a tax-sheltered 
annuity program, or other qualified plan, in lieu of a taxable cash payment to the employee, upon 
separation from service. 
 
The program is mandatory as a result of Board action which became effective on May 15, 2003, 
for all personnel (except AFSCME employees) who will have their annual (vacation) leave and 
terminal sick leave automatically contributed to either the Board’s Tax Sheltered Annuity 403(b) 
or 401(a) Programs.  Contributions into this program will not be subject to either Federal Income 
Tax (estimated 27%) or Social Security Tax (FICA) of 7.65%. Any amount of accrued terminal 
leave in excess of the amounts authorized by the Internal Revenue Service will be paid out to 
the retiring employee and will be subject to applicable taxes. 
 
The current portion (the amount expected to be liquidated with current available resources) of 
the accumulated vested vacation and anticipated sick leave payments is recorded in the General 
Fund and is included in accrued payroll and compensated absences. The liabilities recorded 
include provisions for the employer’s portion of pension contributions, FICA and other fringe 
benefits due on the vested vacation and sick leave balances as applicable.  At June 30, 2013, 
the accrued liability for compensated absences in the General Fund was $6.7 million. 
 
GASB Statement No. 16, Accounting for Compensated Absences, requires governmental 
agencies to record as a liability the vested and future rights to sick and/or vacation leave.  
Accordingly, the probability of partially vested employees becoming fully vested and actual past 
termination payment experience was considered in the determination of this liability. 
 
The statement of net position reflects both the current and long-term portions of compensated 
absences including retirement incentive benefits. At June 30, 2013, the current and long-term 
portions were $16,065 and $254,175 respectively (in thousands). 
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9. CAPITAL LEASES: 
 

The District has entered into various capital lease agreements for the acquisition of certain 
property, vehicles, and equipment which are stated at acquisition cost and included as part of 
our Capital Assets.  At June 30, 2013 the cost of leased equipment recorded in Capital Assets 
was $173.7 million, with accumulated depreciation of $86.7 million, for a net book value of $87.0 
million. 
 
The following is a summary of the future minimum lease payments, under capital leases together 
with the present value of the minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2013 (in thousands): 
 
 

Fiscal Year 
 Other 

Leases 
  Master 

Equipment 
  Lease Total 

         

2014 $ 549  $ 25,286  $ 25,835 

2015  446   24,637   25,083 

2016  365   23,988   24,353 

2017  231   5,773   6,004 

2018  39   2,687   2,726 

2019 - 2023  -   12,633   12,633 

         

  1,630   95,004   96,634 

Less Amount Representing Interest *  170   7,132   7,302 

Present Value of Minimum Lease 
Payments $ 1,460  $ 87,872  $ 89,332 

 
* The amount representing interest was calculated using imputed rates ranging from 0.00% 

to 16.00%. 
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10. LONG-TERM BONDS PAYABLE: 
 

 State Board of Education Capital Outlay Bonds 
 
Capital Outlay Bonds are issued by the State Board of Education (SBE) on behalf of the District 
and are generally referred to as “SBE Bonds.”  The bonds mature serially and are secured by a 
portion of the District’s state revenues derived from the sale of automobile license plates.  
Principal and Interest payments, investment of Debt Service Fund resources, and compliance 
with reserve requirements are administered by the State Board of Education and the State 
Board of Administration.  At June 30, 2013, amounts withheld and in the custody of the state 
totaled $1,462 (in thousands) and are included as cash and investments with fiscal agent in the 
District’s Statement of Net Position.  
 
General Obligation Bonds  
 
On March 8, 1988, pursuant to Florida Statutes, Sections 1010.40 through 1010.54, voter 
residents of the District approved a referendum authorizing the School Board to issue General 
Obligation School Bonds in an aggregate amount not exceeding $980 million, to be issued as 
required. The proceeds from the bonds were used to pay for the construction of new educational 
facilities and improving existing educational facilities.  As of June 30, 2013, no bonds remain to 
be issued.  Principal and interest on the bonds is paid from ad valorem school district taxes on 
all taxable real and personal property, excluding homestead exemption as required by Florida 
law, without limitation as to rate or amount. 
 
On November 6, 2012, pursuant to Florida Statutes, Sections 1010.40 through 1010.54, voter 
residents of the County approved a referendum authorizing the School Board to issue additional 
General Obligation School Bonds in an aggregate amount not to exceed $1.2 billion.  The 
proceeds of the bonds are to be used to pay for modernizing, constructing, enlarging or 
otherwise improving school buildings, including educational technology upgrades. 
 
As of June 30, 2013, none of these bonds have been issued.  Principal and interest on future 
bond issues will be paid from ad valorem school district taxes on all taxable real and personal 
property, excluding Homestead Exemption as required by Florida Law, without limitation as to 
rate or amount.  
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10.        LONG-TERM BONDS PAYABLE, Continued: 
 
A summary of bonds payable as of June 30, 2013 is as follows (in thousands): 
 

  Authorized  Issued  Outstanding 
          
State Board of Education (SBE) Capital 
Outlay Bonds – Series 2004A, due in 
varying annual payments through 
January 1, 2024, with interest rates 
ranging from 3.00% to 4.625%.  Interest 
is payable semi-annually on January 
and July 1.  Bonds are callable on 
January 1 through December 31, 2014 
at par plus 1% premium, and thereafter 
at par. 

 

$ 5,115  $ 5,115  $ 3,570 
          
State Board of Education (SBE) Capital 
Outlay Bonds – Series 2005A due in 
varying annual payments through 
January 1, 2025 with interest rates 
ranging from 3% to 5%.  Interest is 
payable semi-annually on January 1 
and July 1.  Bonds are callable on 
January 1 through December 31, 2015 
at par plus 1% premium, and thereafter 
at par.  A portion of the proceeds was 
used to refund SBE Capital Outlay 
Bonds Series 1996A & 1997A to 
achieve debt service savings. 

 

$ 89,680  $ 89,680  $ 33,200 
          
State Board of Education (SBE) Capital 
Outlay Bonds – Series 2005B due in 
varying annual payments through 
January 1, 2020 with interest rates 
ranging from 3% to 5%. Interest is 
payable semi-annually on January 1 
and July 1.  Bonds are callable on 
January 1 through December 31, 2015 
at par plus 1% premium and thereafter 
at par.  The proceeds from these bonds 
were used to refund SBE Capital Outlay 
Bonds Series 1998A and 2000A to 
achieve debt service savings. 

 

$ 2,735  $ 2,735  $ 1,540 
          
State Board of Education (SBE) Capital 
Outlay Bonds – Series 2008A due in 
varying annual payments through 
January 1, 2028, with interest rates 
ranging from 3.25% to 5.00%. Interest is 
payable semi-annually on January and 
July 1. Bonds are callable on January 1, 
2018 at par plus 1% premium, and 
thereafter at par. 

 

$ 8,425  $ 8,425  $ 7,075 
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10. LONG- TERM BONDS PAYABLE, Continued: 
 

  Authorized  Issued  Outstanding 
          
State Board of Education (SBE) Capital 
Outlay Bonds – Series 2009A, 
Refunding due in varying annual 
payments through January 1, 2019, with 
interest rates ranging from 2.00% to 
5.00%.  Interest is payable semi-
annually on January and July 1.  Bonds 
are callable on January 1, through 
December 31, 2019 at par plus 1% 
premium, and thereafter at par. 

 

$ 1,710  $ 1,710  $ 1,060 
          
State Board of Education (SBE) Capital 
Outlay Bonds – Series 2009A, New 
Portion due in varying annual payments 
through January 1, 2029, with interest 
rates ranging from 2.00% to 5.00%. 
Interest is payable semi-annually on 
January and July 1.  Bonds are callable 
on January 1, through December 31, 
2019 at par plus 1% premium, and 
thereafter at par. 

 

$ 1,355  $ 1,355  $ 1,200 
          
State Board of Education (SBE) Capital 
Outlay Bonds – Series 2010A, Refunding 
due in varying annual payments through 
January 1, 2022, with interest rates 
ranging from 4.00% to 5.00%.  Interest is 
payable semi-annually on January and 
July 1.  Bonds are callable on January 1, 
through December 31, 2020 at par.  A 
portion of the proceeds was used to 
refund SBE Capital Outlay Bonds Series 
2001A & 2002A to achieve debt service 
savings. 

 

$ 1,440  $ 1,440  $ 1,310 
          
State Board of Education (SBE) Capital 
Outlay Bonds – Series 2010A, New 
Portion due in varying annual payments 
through January 1, 2030, with interest 
rates ranging from 3.00% to 5.00%.  
Interest is payable semi-annually on 
January and July 1.  Bonds are callable 
on January 1, through December 31, 
2020 at par. 

 

$ 640  $ 640  $ 580 
          
State Board of Education (SBE) Capital 
Outlay Bonds – Series 2011A, Refunding 
due in varying annual payments through 
January 1, 2023, with interest rates 
ranging from 3.00% to 5.00%.  Interest is 
payable semi-annually on January and 
July 1.  Bonds are callable on January 1, 
through December 31, 2021 at par.  A 
portion of the proceeds was used to 
refund SBE Capital Outlay Bonds Series 
2003A to achieve debt service savings. 

 

$ 725  $ 725  $ 725 
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10. LONG-TERM BONDS PAYABLE, Continued: 
 

  Authorized  Issued  Outstanding 
          
General Obligation Schools Bonds, 
Series 1994, consisting of Serial Bonds 
due in varying serial payments through 
August 1, 2014. Interest rates ranging 
from 5.0% to 6.4%, is payable February 1 
and August 1.  Bonds maturing on August 
1, 2004 and thereafter were called on 
August 1, 2004 at the redemption price of 
101%. The bonds were remarketed with 
the same maturity dates, rates, and issue 
date at a true interest cost of 2.66%.  The 
sale resulted in the same cash flow as 
the prior debt service. 

 

$

Third in a 
series not 
to exceed 

980,000  $ 99,030  $ 
 

22,365 
          
General Obligation Refunding School 
Bonds Series 1997, consisting of Serial 
Bonds due in varying serial payments 
through February 15, 2017.  Interest, at a 
rate of 5.00%, is payable February 15 
and August 15.  The Bonds maturing on 
February 15, 2008 and thereafter were 
called on November 1, 2006 at the 
redemption price of 101%.  The Bonds 
were remarketed at the same maturity 
dates, rates, and issue date at a true 
interest cost of 3.83%.  The sale resulted 
in the same cash flow as prior debt 
service. 

 

$ 86,785  $ 86,785  $ 
 

40,305 
          
General Obligation Refunding School 
Bonds Series 1998, consisting of Serial 
Bonds due in varying serial payments 
through August 1, 2015.  Interest rates 
ranging from 4.0% to 5.38%, is payable 
February 1 and August 1. The Bonds are 
not subject to redemption prior to 
maturity. 

 

$ 154,580  $ 154,580  $ 
 

60,675 
          

Total Long-Term Bonds Payable        $ 173,605 
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10. LONG-TERM BONDS PAYABLE, Continued: 
 

Several of the SBE long-term bonds are callable prior to maturity during the years 2013 through 
2021.  The debt service requirements to maturity, assuming none of the SBE bonds are called 
prior to their scheduled maturity date, are as follows (in thousands): 
 

Year 
Ending 
June 30 

  
 

Principal 

  
 

Interest 

  
Total Debt Service 

Requirements 

          
2014  $ 52,000  $ 8,031  $ 60,031 

2015   54,835   5,314   60,149 

2016   41,445   2,863   44,308 

2017   12,995   1,222   14,217 

2018   1,425   575   2,000 

2019 – 2023   6,125   1,954   8,079 

2024 – 2028   4,585   669   5,254 

2029 – 2033   195   10   205 

Total  $ 173,605  $ 20,638  $ 194,243 
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11. OBLIGATIONS UNDER LEASE PURCHASE AGREEMENT – 
CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION: 
 
On August 1, 1994, the District entered into a Lease Purchase Agreement, with the Dade County School 
Board Foundation, Inc., a Florida not-for-profit corporation (the “Foundation”) and blended component 
unit of the District, to finance the acquisition and construction of new schools and appurtenant equipment 
and other property (the “Facilities”) to be operated by the District. The members of the School Board 
serve as the Board of Directors of The Foundation. The Foundation was formed by the School Board 
solely for the purpose of acting as the lessor of the Facilities, with the District as lessee. The School 
Board as lessor entered into Ground Leases with the Foundation for the Facilities sites and all 
improvements.  In conjunction therewith, Certificates of Participation, (the “Certificates”) were issued to 
third parties, evidencing undivided proportionate interests in basic lease payments to be made by the 
District, as lessee, pursuant to the Lease Purchase Agreement. Fee title to the Facilities and the 
Facilities site is in the name of the District. The District is responsible for operation, maintenance, use, 
occupancy, upkeep and insurance of the Facilities. 
 
The Foundation leases the Facilities to the District under the Lease Purchase Agreements, which are 
automatically renewable annually through May 1, 2037, unless terminated, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Lease Purchase Agreements, as a result of default or the failure of the School Board to 
appropriate funds to make lease payments in its final official budget. The remedies on default or upon an 
event of non-appropriation include the surrender of the Facilities by the District and its re-letting for the 
remaining Ground Lease term, or the voluntary sale of the Facilities by the School Board, in either case 
with the proceeds to be applied against the School Board’s obligations under the Lease Purchase 
Agreements. 
 
The Certificates are not separate legal obligations of the School Board, but represent undivided interests 
in lease payments to be made from appropriated funds budgeted annually by the School Board for such 
purpose from current or other funds authorized by law and regulations of the Department of Education, 
including the local optional millage levy. However, neither the School Board, the District, the State of 
Florida, nor any political subdivision thereof, are obligated to pay, except from appropriated funds, any 
sums due under the Lease Purchase Agreement from any source of taxation. The full faith and credit of 
the School Board and the District is not pledged for payment of such sums due under the Lease 
Purchase Agreements and such sums do not constitute an indebtedness of the School Board or the 
District within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision or limitation. The District plans to 
make the Series 2004A, 2005A, 2006C, and 2006D lease payments from the impact fees collected on 
new residential construction by Miami-Dade County and remitted to the School Board, and from Local 
Optional Millage Levy. 
 
Under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, Qualified School Construction Bonds 
(QSCBs) and Build America Bonds (BABs) were established to provide for taxable obligations to be 
issued by the school district with a federal subsidy for interest.  Series 2009B and 2010A were issued 
under the Qualified School Construction Bond program and Series 2010B were issued under the Build 
America Bond program.  The 2009B Series provides federal tax credits in lieu of interest payments to the 
Certificate holder, which is similar to the Series 2000, 2001, 2003, and 2006 Qualified Zone Academy 
Bonds (QZAB) program.  The Series 2010A and 2010B, along with the Series 2010 QZAB were issued 
as direct pay bonds whereby the interest subsidy is paid directly to the school district by the U.S. 
Treasury. 
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11. OBLIGATIONS UNDER LEASE PURCHASE AGREEMENT – 
CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION, Continued: 
 
The Internal Revenue Services (IRS) announced on March 4, 2013, that payments to issuers of the 
direct pay bonds are subject to a reduction of 8.7% of the amount budgeted for such payment.  The 
sequester reduction rate will be applied to amounts claimed by an issuer on any IRS Form 8038-CP filed 
with the IRS that results in payment to such issuer on or after March 1, 2013.  Accordingly, unless 
Congress acts to change the sequester percentage or otherwise changes the application of the cuts, the 
School Board anticipates the aggregate expected QSCB Issuer Subsidy, BAB Issuer Subsidy and QZAB 
Issuer Subsidy totaling $3,629 (in thousands) for fiscal year 2013 to be reduced by 8.7% (which equates 
to a $316 (in thousands) reduction), after March 1, 2013.  As a result the corresponding increase in 
interest costs for the District must be paid from other revenue sources.  
 
A summary of Certificates of Participation payable as of June 30, 2013 is as follows (in 
thousands):  
 
Debt Series Issue 

Date 
Final 

Maturity Interest Rate(s) 
 

Issued Outstanding 
      
2000 Qualified Zone Academy 
Bonds – Interest is paid by U.S. 
Government through issuance of 
federal income tax credits. 

12/21/00 12/21/13 N/A  $      24,508 $            24,508 

      
2001 Qualified Zone Academy 
Bonds – Interest is paid by U.S. 
Government through issuance of 
federal income tax credits. 

06/01/01 06/01/15 N/A 15,000             15,000 

      
2003 Qualified Zone Academy 
Bonds – Interest is paid by U.S. 
Government through issuance of 
federal income tax credits. 

12/18/03 12/18/18 N/A 9,744 9,744 

      
2006 Qualified Zone Academy 
Bonds – Interest is paid by U.S. 
Government through issuance of 
federal income tax credits. 

12/15/06 
 

12/15/22 
 

N/A 
 

2,600 
 

2,600 

      
2010 Qualified Zone Academy 
Bonds – 5.10% Tax Credit paid by 
U.S. Government to the District. 

11/10/10 11/01/29 True Interest Cost 0.15% 
5.25% (without 5.10% U.S. 

Subsidy) 

24,480 24,480 

      
2001B Series – Auction Rate 
Certificates converted to variable 
rate mode based on LIBOR plus 
0.75% under a Private Placement 
with predetermined reset terms. 

06/19/01 
 

05/01/31 
 

Variable Interest 0.94% @ 
June 30, 2013 

 

54,650 
 

43,500 

      
2002A Series – Auction Rate 
Certificates converted to variable 
rate mode based on SIFMA plus 
0.75% under a Private Placement 
with predetermined reset terms. 

12/13/02 08/01/27 Variable Interest 0.81% @ 
June 30, 2013 

 

    75,000 56,940 

      
2002B Series – Auction Rate 
Certificates converted to variable 
rate mode based on SIFMA plus 
0.75% under a Private Placement 
with predetermined reset terms. 

12/13/02 08/01/27 Variable Interest 0.81% @ 
June 30, 2013 

75,000 56,945 

      
2003A Series – Includes Capital 
Appreciation Bonds.  Refunded the 
Series 1998B Issuance. 

03/01/03 08/01/27 True Interest Cost 3.418% 
Assumed 3.5%-Beyond 

Mandatory Purchase Date 

63,633 130 
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11. OBLIGATIONS UNDER LEASE PURCHASE AGREEMENT – 
CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION, Continued: 
 

A summary of Certificates of Participation payable as of June 30, 2013 is as follows (in thousands): 
 
   
 

Issue 
Date 

Final 
Maturity Interest Rate(s) 

 
Issued Outstanding 

      
2004A Series – Serial Certificates.  
Partially refunded 2000A and 2001C 
Series. 

08/12/04 
 

10/01/20 
 

True Interest Cost 4.29% 
2.25% to 5.25% 

  $    87,210  $             52,280 

      
2005A Series – Serial & Term 
Certificates. 

06/28/05 
 

04/01/20 
 

True Interest Cost 3.892% 
3.5% to 5% 

56,380 4,080 

      
2006A Series – Serial & Term 
Certificates. 

03/15/06 11/01/31 True Interest Cost 4.49% 
3.375% to 5.00% 

201,080 155,545 

      
2006B Series – Serial & Term 
Certificates. 

04/11/06 11/01/31 True Interest Cost 4.54% 
3.50% to 5.00% 

208,150 164,255 

      
2006C Series – Serial & Term 
Certificates. 

05/10/06 10/01/21 True Interest Cost 4.41% 
3.875% to 5.00% 

53,665 36,460 

      
2006D Series – Serial Certificates.  
Partially refunded 2001C Series. 

12/21/06 10/01/21 True Interest Cost 4.098% 
3.625% to 5.00% 

10,570 10,055 

      
2007A Series – Serial & Term 
Certificates. 

05/10/07 
 

05/01/32 
 

True Interest Cost 4.52% 
3.75% to 5.00% 

316,515 
 

280,955 

      
2007B Series – Serial & Term 
Certificates. 

05/24/07 
 

05/01/32 
 

True Interest Cost 4.47% 
4.00% to 5.00% 

101,265 
 

89,650 

      
2007C Series – Auction Rate 
Certificates converted to variable rate 
mode based on LIBOR plus 0.75% 
under a Private Placement with 
predetermined reset terms. 

05/24/07 
 

05/01/37 
 

Variable Interest 0.94% @ 
June 30, 2013 

 

90,825 
 

90,825 

      
2008A Series – Serial Certificates. 
Forward cash refunding 1998A & 
1998C Series. 

06/19/08 08/01/26 True Interest Cost 4.327% 
5% 

   233,400 180,425 

      
2008B Series – Serial & Term 
Certificates. 

05/28/08 
 

05/01/33 
 

True Interest Cost 4.869% 
3.5% to 5.25% 

538,305 
 

507,985 

      
2008C Series – Variable Rate 
Demand Notes converted to a five 
year Floating Rate Note effective May 
16, 2012 based on 70% of LIBOR 
plus 0.90%.  If cannot be remarketed, 
interest shall accrue at Base Rate 
plus 1%, and from the 31st day, 
interest shall accrue at Base Rate 
plus 5%. 

08/01/08 
 

07/15/27 
 

Variable Interest 1.04% @ 
June 30, 2013 

 

57,770 
 

57,440

      
2009A Series – Serial & Term 
Certificates. 

02/26/09 02/01/34 True Interest Cost 5.28% 
3.00% to 5.375% 

310,055 268,375 

      
2009B Series – Qualified School 
Construction Bonds. Interest is paid 
by U.S. Government through 
issuance of federal income tax credits 
(sold at a discount price of 73.673% 
resulting in a True Interest Cost of 
1.859%). 

12/15/09 12/15/26 N/A 104,000 104,000 
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11.        OBLIGATIONS UNDER LEASE PURCHASE AGREEMENT – 
CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION, Continued: 

 
 Issue Date Final 

Maturity Interest Rate(s) 
 

Issued 
 

Outstanding 
       
2010A Series – Qualified School 
Construction Bonds, 5.54% Tax 
Credit paid by U.S. Government to 
the District. 

06/24/10 
 

06/15/27 
 

True Interest Cost 0.852% 
6.24% to 6.49% (without 

5.54% U.S. Subsidy) 

 $     96,290 
 

 $        96,290 

       
2010B Series – Build America 
Bonds, 35% Tax Credit paid by 
U.S. Government to the District. 

06/24/10 
 

06/15/32 
 

True Interest Cost 4.523% 
6.84% to 6.94% (without 

35% U.S. Subsidy) 

    27,990 
 

 27,990 

       
2011A Series – Include fixed rate 
and term rate certificates refunding 
of Series 2003B.  Term bonds 
include mandatory 3 year soft put 
on 5/1/14 of $76,685 at 100%. If 
cannot be remarketed, interest shall 
accrue at 11% per year.  

03/29/11 05/01/31 True Interest Cost 4.449% 
2.5% to 5% 

139,055  125,305 

       
2011B Series – Include fixed rate 
and term rate certificates partially 
refunding of Series 2007A, 2007B, 
and 2009A.  Term bonds include a 
mandatory 5 year soft put on 
05/01/16 of $70,000 at 100%.  If 
cannot be remarketed, interest shall 
accrue at 11% per year. 

03/29/11 05/01/32 True Interest Cost 5.154% 
5% to 5.75% 

137,660  137,660 

       
2012A Series – Include Fixed Rate 
and Term Rate Certificates partially 
refunding Series 2003D ($148,850).  
Term Bonds include a mandatory 4 
year soft put on 8/1/2016 of 
$58,780 at 100% with a gross 
savings of ($424) and a net present 
value economic savings of $7, 434. 
If cannot be remarketed, interest 
shall accrue at 11% per year. 

07/05/2012 08/01/2029 True Interest Cost 3.606% 
2% to 5% 

149,365  149,365 

       
2012B-1 Series – Serial 
Certificates.  Partially refunding 
2004A ($15,575) with a gross 
savings of $2,814 and net present 
value economic savings of $2,270 

07/05/2012 10/01/2020 True Interest Cost 2.814% 
5% 

13,765  13,765 

       
2012B-2 Series – Serial 
Certificates.  Partially refunding 
2005A ($16,725) with a gross 
savings of $1,994 and a net present 
value economic savings of $1,677 

07/05/2012 04/01/2020 True Interest Cost 2.379% 
4% 

15,655  15,655 

       
2013A Series – Serial Certificate.  
Partially refunding 2006A ($15,335), 
2006B ($12,470), 2007A ($9,525), 
2007B ($2,075) and 2008B 
($30,320) with a gross savings of 
($55,967) and a net present value 
economic dissavings of ($9,364) 

05/01/2013 05/01/2032 True Interest Cost 4.199% 
5% 

68,230  68,230 

       
2013B Series – Serial Certificates.  
Fully refunding 2003D ($2,110) and 
partially refunding 2009A ($6,395) 
with a gross saving of ($5,912) and 
a net present value economic 
dissavings of ($793), 

05/01/2013 02/01/2030 True Interest Cost 4.097% 
5% 

         8,160  8,160 

       
    $  3,349,975     $       2,878,597 
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11.        OBLIGATIONS UNDER LEASE PURCHASE AGREEMENT – 
CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION, Continued: 

 
  At June 30, 2013 the following defeased certificates remain outstanding: 

 
 

Defeased Certificates Amount Outstanding 

2003D $ 150,960,000 

2006A $ 15,335,000 

2006B $ 12,470,000 

2007A $ 9,525,000 

2007B $ 2,075,000 

2008B $ 30,320,000 

2009A $ 6,395,000 
 

Debt service requirements for obligations under lease purchase agreements – Certificates of 
Participation to maturity, assuming the obligations will be remarketed based on the specified soft 
put dates disclosed below, are as follows  (in thousands): 
 

Year Ending 
June 30 

  
Principal 

  
Interest**** 

 Total Debt Service 
Requirements* 

          

2014**  $ 70,217  $ 117,513  $ 187,730 

2015   54,134   115,943   170,077 

2016**   83,498   113,887   197,385 

2017***   161,530   111,042   272,572 

2018    116,155   105,646   221,801 

2019 – 2023   641,976   453,315   1,095,291 

2024 – 2028   838,430   310,400   1,148,830 

2029 – 2033   855,632   111,839   967,471 

2034 – 2037   57,025   1,070   58,095 

Total  $ 2,878,597  $ 1,440,655  $ 4,319,252 

* The schedule above reflects required annual payments to the sinking fund for the retirement of the debt, and are 
not considered reduction of principal until the year of maturity. 

** Requirements for 2014 and 2016 include mandatory soft puts.  Series 2011A has a 3-year soft-put on May 1, 
2014 of $76,685, and Series 2011B has a 5-year soft-put on May 1, 2016 of $70,000.  Series 2012A has a 4 year 
soft put on 8/1/2016 of $58,780.  The District intends to remarket these in full, however if cannot be remarketed, 
interest shall accrue at 11% per year. 

*** Requirements for 2017 include a 5-year floating rate note for COP Series 2008C, effective May 16, 2012 based 
on 70% of LIBOR plus .90%.  The District intends to remarket in full, however if it cannot be remarketed interest 
shall accrue at base rate plus 1%, and from the 31st day, interest shall accrue at base rate plus 5%. 

**** Interest rates on several obligations are variable.  The rates for such obligations range from 0.81% - 1.04%. 
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11.        OBLIGATIONS UNDER LEASE PURCHASE AGREEMENT – 
CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION, Continued: 

Hedging Derivative Instrument: 
Objectives:  The District entered into pay-fixed interest rate forward swaps (referred to herein 
collectively as “Swaps”) in order to lower its cost of capital and protect against rising interest 
rates.  The Swaps are classified as cash flow hedges on the District’s floating rate debt and were 
executed to manage its mix of fixed and floating rate exposure in its on-going borrowing 
program. 

The following Swaps had changes in fair value totaling $12,319,103 classified as a decrease of 
the Deferred Outflow of Resources and all fair values (including accrued interest) have been 
calculated using the zero-coupon method independently calculated.  This method calculates the 
future net settlement payments required by the swap, assuming that the current forward rates 
implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates.  The payments are then 
discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero-coupon 
bonds due on the date of each future net settlement of the swap. 

 
Date of 

Execution 

Notional 
Amount 

Outstanding 

 
Effective 

Date 

 
Termination 

Date 

 
Associated 
Certificates 

Fixed 
Payable 

Swap Rate 

Variable 
Receivable 
Swap Rate 

Counterparty 
credit rating at 
June 30, 2013* 

 
Fair Value at 
June 30, 2013 

04-03-2006 $56,940,000 04-01-2007 08-01-2027 COP 2002A 3.821% 70% 1Mo 
LIBOR 

Aa3/AA-/AA (8,698,363) 

04-03-2006 $56,945,000 04-01-2007 08-01-2027 COP 2002B 3.821% 70% 1Mo 
LIBOR 

Aa3/AA-/AA (8,838,355) 
 

04-03-2006 $57,440,000 08-01-2008 07-15-2027 COP 2008C 3.909% 70% 1Mo 
LIBOR 

Aa3/AA-/AA (11,326,116) 
 

*Moody’s/S&P/FITCH 
 

Using rates as of June 30, 2013, debt service requirements for variable rate debt and net Swap 
payment, assuming current interest rates remain the same, are as follows (in thousands): 
 

 
Fiscal Year 

 
Principal 

  
Interest 

  
Hedging Derivative 

Instruments, Net 

  
Total 

Interest 

Total Debt 
Service 

Requirement 
2014 $        5,125  $    1,530   $       6,244  $       7,774 $         12,899     
2015 $        7,560  $    1,443  $       5,997  $       7,440 $         15,000 
2016 $        7,935  $    1,375  $       5,691  $       7,066 $         15,001 
2017 $        8,330  $    1,306  $       5,397  $       6,703 $         15,033 
2018  $        7,990  $    1,233  $       5,070   $       6,303 $         14,293 

2019 – 2023 $      46,825  $    5,030  $     20,204  $     25,234 $         72,059 
2024 – 2028 $      87,560  $    2,456  $       9,149  $     11,605 $         99,165 

Total $    171,325      $  14,373   $     57,752       $     72,125     $       243,450 
 

Risk Disclosure: 
Credit Risk. The Swaps rely upon the performance of the third parties who serve as swap 
counterparties, and as a result the District is exposed to credit risk, or the risk that a swap 
counterparty fails to perform according to its contractual obligations.  The appropriate 
measurement of this risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the Swaps, as shown in the 
columns labeled Fair Value in the tables above.  To mitigate credit risk, the District maintains 
strict credit standards for swap counterparties.  The current swap counterparty has ratings in 
double-A category or better.  To further mitigate counterparty credit risk, the District’s swap 
documents require counterparties to post collateral for the District’s benefit if they are 
downgraded below Aa3 by Moody’s and below AA- by Standard & Poor’s, if the swap values 
exceed specified thresholds.  Collateral is to be in the form of US Treasuries or Agency 
securities held by a third party custodian.  Currently, the Swaps have not been in an asset 
position requiring the posting of collateral.  There is no master netting arrangement on the 
outstanding Swaps. 
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11.        OBLIGATIONS UNDER LEASE PURCHASE AGREEMENT – 
CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION, Continued: 
 
Interest Rate Risk.  The Swaps are intended to protect the District against changes in floating 
interest rates.  If floating rates rise, the District’s payment on the variable rate bonds should 
increase but should be offset by the variable rate payments it receives under the Swaps. 
 
Basis Risk.  The District’s Swaps expose the District to basis risk should the relationship 
between the floating rates the District will receive on the swaps (70% of LIBOR) fall short of the 
variable rate on the associated bonds, the expected savings may not be realized.  As of June 
30, 2013, the variable rate was 0.06%, while the LIBOR rate was 0.19% on both the 2002A & 
2002B certificates, and the District received 0.13% (70%) and 0.14% (70%) on  the 2002A & 
2002B certificates, respectively.  As of June 30, 2013, the 2008C variable rate was 0.13%, while 
the LIBOR rate was 0.19% and the District received 0.13% (70%). 
 
Termination Risk.  The District’s Swap agreements do not contain any out-of-the-ordinary 
termination events that would expose it to significant termination risk.  In keeping with market 
standards the District or the counterparty may terminate each swap if the other party fails to 
perform under the terms of the contract.  In addition, the swap documents allow either party to 
terminate in the event of a significant loss of creditworthiness.  If at the time an early termination 
of the swap was declared and the swap had a negative value, the District would be liable to the 
counterparty for a payment equal to the fair value of such swap. The District views such events 
to be remote in the case of the current counterparty which is rated Aa3/AA-.  On March 8, 2012 
the District replaced the Merrill Lynch Capital Markets (MLCS) swap associated with the 2008C 
COP due to an Additional Termination Event, which occurred when MLCS guarantor, Merrill 
Lynch & Co. was downgraded by Moody’s to below A3.  The District Swap agreements provide 
the optional right of the District to replace the swap with a new creditworthy counterparty when 
an Additional Termination Event occurs. 
 

12.        DEBT SERVICE: 
 

The amount available for debt service consists of resources from the Debt Service Funds legally 
required to be used for debt service until the related debt is extinguished (in thousands): 
 

Categories:   Amounts 
    
Restricted for Payment of State Board 
 of Education and Capital Outlay Bonds 

 
$ 1,462 

Restricted for Payment of District Bond Funds   32,402 
Restricted for Other Debt Service    43,755 

Total Available in Debt Service Funds  $ 77,619 
 
All Certificates of Participation Lease Payments and all other amounts required to be paid by the 
School Board under the various Series under the Master Lease and all other Leases are made 
from legally available funds appropriated for such purpose by the School Board.  The 
substantive portion for these payments is provided by the Local Optional Millage Levy on ad-
valorem property. Separate Lease Payment Accounts are established for each series of 
Certificates issued under the Trust Agreement.  Lease Payments are due under the Master 
Lease on an all-or-none basis and are payable on a parity basis solely from legally available 
funds appropriated by the School Board for such purpose.  Such payments are normally 
transferred to the Trustee 15 days before Lease Payments are due. 
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13.        ESTIMATED LIABILITY ON INSURANCE RISKS AND PENDING CLAIMS: 
 

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; administrative errors and omissions; injuries to employees, students and guests; as well as 
natural disasters. The District is self-insured for portions of its general and automobile liability 
insurance, workers’ compensation and health insurance.  Losses involving auto and general liability 
claims are limited (generally) by provisions of the Florida State Statute 768.28.  Claims brought against 
the District are handled by a contracted third-party administrator. The District purchases commercial 
insurance for other risks including property and other miscellaneous risks as follows: 
 

 
Type 

 Risk Retention/ 
Deductible 

 Coverage after 
Retention/Deductible 

Workers’ Compensation  $1,000,000  Statutory/$1,000,000 
General, Fleet Liability, and 
Errors and Omissions 

 $200,000/$300,000  $500,000 per occurrence, $3,250,000 
annual aggregate 

Property 
 

 $100,000,000 per occurrence for 
hurricanes; $500,000 per incident for 
all other perils. 

 $20,000,000 per occurrence/annual 
aggregate for all perils including 
windstorms, earthquakes and floods. 

  $100,000 for each act of terrorism  $50,000,000 annual aggregate 

 
Accordingly, liabilities for certain retained risks are reported when it is probable that a loss has 
occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.  The District’s estimated liability for 
self-insured losses relating to the casualty program consisting of general liability, automobile liability, 
professional liability/errors and omissions, and workers’ compensation claims was determined by an 
independent actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2013.  Liabilities, as determined by the 
actuary, include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported (IBNR).  Claims 
liabilities are calculated considering the effects of inflation, recent claim settlement trends including 
frequency and amount of pay-outs and other economic and social factors.  The portion of the liability 
that is due and payable at June 30, 2013 is recorded in the General Fund and the remaining portion is 
recorded in the government-wide financial statements.  Liability for incurred losses to be settled by 
fixed or reasonably determinable payments over a long period of time are reported at their present 
value using expected future investment yield assumptions of 2.5%. 
 
The School Board authorized the purchase of Individual Stop Loss (ISL) coverage for its self-insured 
health program effective January 1, 2013, from Cigna with an attachment point of $880,000 per 
claimant.   
 
The School Board approved a set of premium equivalent rates, based upon actuarial projections of 
claims including claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) for the calendar year provided by the School 
Board’s Employee Benefits Consulting firms of Deloitte Consulting, LLP and Cigna.  The calendar year 
2013 monthly rates for the two offered Open Access Programs (OAP) are $626 (OAP 10) and $576 
(OAP 20).  The Board’s contribution for employee only coverage is limited to the $576 (OAP 20); 
therefore, employees who choose the $626 (OAP 10) are subject to a monthly cost share based upon 
their salary band.  Effective January 1, 2010, the cost of dependent healthcare coverage became 
banded by salary tiers which was renewed for January 1, 2013. 
 
The School Board continues to offer an opt out provision for employees who can provide proof of 
insurance coverage.  Employees who opt out receive a monthly adjustment to gross compensation of 
$100/month. 
 
The District’s estimated liability for health insurance claim payments was determined by an 
independent actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2013. 
 
There were no losses which exceeded coverage in fiscal years ended June 30, 2011, 2012 and 2013. 
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13. ESTIMATED LIABILITY ON INSURANCE RISKS AND PENDING CLAIMS, Continued: 
 

A total estimated liability amount of $138,635 was actuarially determined to cover reported and 
unreported claims payable at June 30, 2013.  It is estimated that of the current portion, $64,645 
is due within a year.  The remaining $73,990 will be due in future years (in thousands). 
 

   Estimated Liability For Pending Claims 

  
 Current 

Portion   Long-Term 
Portion   Total 

         

Workers’ compensation  $ 22,309  $ 63,171  $ 85,479 

General and 
occupational liability 

 
 3,673   7,998   11,671 

Fleet liability   1,041   2,821   3,862 

Group Health   37,623   -   37,623 

Total  $ 64,645  $ 73,990  $ 138,635 

 
 

Changes in the balance of claims liabilities for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2013 are as 
follows (in thousands): 
 

 

  

 
 

Balance 
July 1, 2011   

Current year 
claims and 
changes in 
estimates    

 
 

Claim 
payments   

 
Balance 

June 30, 2012 

Workers’ compensation  $           74,498  $ 27,764  $ (26,203)  $           76,059 

General and 
occupational liability   14,007   3,481   (4,045)   13,443 

Fleet liability   2,957   2,105   (877)   4,185 

Group Health   30,126   356,225   (350,262)   36,089 

Total  $         121,588  $ 389,575  $ (381,387)  $         129,776 

 
 

  

 

 
 

Balance 
July 1, 2012   

Current year 
claims and 
changes in 
estimates    

 
 

Claim 
payments   

 
 

Balance 
June 30, 2013 

Workers’ compensation  $           76,059  $ 43,842  $ (34,422)  $ 85,479 

General and 
occupational liability 

 

 13,443   447   (2,219)   11,671 

Fleet liability   4,185   1,030   (1,353)   3,862 

Group Health   36,089   337,169   (335,635)   37,623 

Total  $         129,776  $ 382,488  $ (373,629)  $ 138,635 
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14. CHANGES IN LONG-TERM LIABILITIES: 
 

Long-term liabilities balances and activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 are as follows (in 
thousands): 

 
  

Balance 
7/1/12 

  
 

Additions 

  
 

Deductions 

  
Balance 
6/30/13 

 Amounts Due 
Within One 

Year 

 

           
Bonds Payable $      226,235  $           (44)    $       (51,095)    $      175,096     *  $          52,553    ** 

Certificates of 
Participation Payable 
by the Foundation, net 2,947,672  261,531  (318,502)     2,890,701 *** 45,328 **** 

Derivative Instrument 
Liabilities 41,182  -  (12,319)         28,863  -  

Capital Leases Payable 120,096  475  (31,239)         89,332  23,025  

Self-Insurance Estimated 
Claims Payable 129,776  382,488  (373,629)        138,635  64,645  

Retirement Incentive 
Benefits 2,428  -  (876)           1,552  202  

Compensated Absences 258,536  33,794  (23,642)        268,688  15,864  

Other Post Employment 
Benefits 17,853  -  (3,754)         14,099  -  

Interlocal Construction 
Contract Agreement 400  1,600  -           2,000  -  

Total $   3,744,178  $     679,844  $      (815,056)  $    3,608,966      $         201,617  
 
 

* 
 

 Includes unamortized premium in the amount of $1,878 less a deferred loss on the 
remarketing of $387. 

**  Includes principal payments plus unamortized premium in the amount of $684 less a 
deferred loss in the amount of $131. 

*** 
 

 Amount is more than the principal balance of $2,878,597 in Note 11 by $12,104 which 
represents the net unamortized premium less deferred loss on advanced COP refundings 
at June 30, 2013. 

****  Includes principal payments plus unamortized premium in the amount of $2,641 less a 
deferred loss in the mount of $3,022. 

 
Payments for insurance claims (other than health insurance claims that are paid from the 
Internal Service Fund), retirement incentive benefits, and compensated absences are paid by 
the General Fund.  Capital Leases are mostly paid from capital project funds. 
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15. STATE REVENUE SOURCES: 
 
 A major source of the District’s revenue is received from the State of Florida, who provided 

approximately 35.0% of total revenues in fiscal year 2012-13. The following is a schedule of 
state revenue sources and amounts (in thousands): 

 
Sources  Amount  

     

Florida Education Finance Program   $ 610,377  

Categorical Educational Programs    427,697  

Workforce Development    81,017  

Charter School Capital Outlay Funding    14,394  

Capital Outlay and Debt Service (CO&DS) Withheld  
   for SBE/COBI Bonds  

  13,532  

Food Service Supplement    2,146  

Adults with Disabilities    1,125  

CO&DS Distributed    1,416  

Workforce Education Performance Incentive    931  

CO&DS Withheld For Administrative Expense               228  

State License Tax    200  

Interest on Undistributed CO&DS    143  

SBE/COBI Bond Interest   59  

Miscellaneous    1,439  

Total  $ 1,154,704  
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16. PROPERTY TAXES: 
 

The Board is authorized by state law to levy property taxes for District school operations, capital 
improvements and debt service.  Property taxes consist of ad valorem taxes on real and personal 
property within the District.  Property taxes are assessed by the County Property Appraiser and are 
collected by the County Tax Collector.   

 
Property values are assessed as of January 1 of each year. Taxes are levied after the millage rate is 
certified in September of each year.  Tax bills are mailed in October and taxes are payable between 
November 1 of the year assessed and March 31 of the following year at discounts of up to 4% for 
early payment. 

 
Taxes become delinquent on April 1 of the year following the year levied.  State law provides for 
enforcement of collection of real property taxes. First, interest-bearing tax certificates are sold at 
public auction to recover delinquent taxes.  Finally, if the tax certificates are not paid with accrued 
interest by the property owner, the purchaser of the tax certificate is entitled to take possession of the 
property.  Accordingly, substantially all of the taxes assessed for calendar year 2012 have been 
recognized during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. 

 
The State Constitution limits the levying of non-voted taxes by the School Board to 10 mills ($10.00 
per thousand of assessed valuation).  State law prescribes on an annual basis the upper limit of non-
voted property tax millage that may be levied.  For fiscal 2012-13 the limit of 7.765 mills was levied.  
The total adjusted assessed value for calendar year 2012 on which the fiscal year 2013 levy was 
based on approximately $198.1 billion. 

 
Actual property taxes collected and reflected in the table below totaled 98.9% of taxes levied, 
including collections from prior years’ tax levies but exclude tax redemptions.  The Miami-Dade 
County Tax Collector is not required by law to make an accounting to the District of the difference 
between taxes levied and taxes collected.  However, because discounts are allowed for early 
payment of taxes and because of other reasons for noncollection, the District’s budget anticipates 
that 96% of taxes levied will be collected.   
 
The following is a summary of millages and taxes levied on the final 2012 tax roll for the fiscal year 
2012-13 (in thousands): 

    Taxes 
 Millages  Levied  Collected  Uncollected (Net)*

GENERAL FUND 
Nonvoted School Tax: 
Required Local Effort 

 

5.557  $ 1,100,823  $ 1,038,816  $ 62,007 

Discretionary Local Effort 
 

.647   128,168   120,949   7,219 

  6.204  $ 1,228,991  $ 1,159,765  $ 69,226 
            

CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS 
Nonvoted Tax: 
Local Capital Improvements 

           

  1.561  $ 309,229  $ 291,812  $ 17,417 
            

DEBT SERVICE FUNDS 
Voted Tax: 
Debt Service - General 
Obligation Bonds 

 

.233  $ 46,156  $ 43,557  $ 2,599 
 
Taxes reported in the Governmental Funds as reflected above includes an accrual only for taxes 
collected within 60 days after the fiscal year-end.  In the government-wide financial statements the 
District bases the estimates of taxes receivable and uncollectible taxes on historical experience.  For 
fiscal year 2012-13, the District considered $68.1 million or 4.3% of levied taxes as uncollectible. 
 
* The uncollected net amount reported above is recorded as deferred revenue in the governmental 

funds. 
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17. RETIREMENT BENEFITS: 
 

The School Board provides retirement benefits to its employees through the Florida Retirement 
System, the Supplemental Early Retirement Plan, and a Deferred Retirement Option Program 
(DROP), as well as state approved Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) in the form of 
subsidized health insurance premiums. 

 
Florida State Retirement Programs 

 
The School Board participates in the Florida Retirement System (FRS) a cost sharing multiple 
employer public employee retirement system which is totally administered by the State of 
Florida, Department of Management Services, Division of Retirement.  The District’s payroll for 
employees covered by FRS for the year ended June 30, 2013 was approximately $1.7 billion; 
the District’s total payroll was approximately $1.7 billion. 
 
Prior to September 2002 all Florida Retirement System plans were defined benefit plans.  Since 
September 2002 all covered employees may opt to participate in a defined contribution plan 
referred to as the Public Employee Optional Retirement Program (PEORP) established by the 
State of Florida.  Participating employers pay to FRS a single rate established annually by the 
Florida Legislature.  Other than a one year vesting requirement, the state has established no 
restrictions which would affect when an employee participating in the defined contribution plan 
may retire.  Only restrictions imposed by the Internal Revenue Service would apply. 
 
The 2011 Florida Legislature passed Senate Bill 2100, making significant changes to the FRS.  
The bill signed into law by Governor Rick Scott was effective July 1, 2011.  Some of the changes 
impact current members while other changes will only impact future members who are initially 
enrolled in FRS on or after July 1, 2011. 
 
Effective July 1, 2011, FRS members must contribute 3% of their gross salary amount on a pre-
tax basis.  Members participating in the Deferred Retirement Option (DROP) Program, and 
reemployed retirees who are not allowed to renew membership are not required to pay 
employee contribution.  Members with an effective retirement date or DROP begin date on or 
before July 1, 2011 did not have a change in their 3% Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA).  
Members with an effective retirement date or DROP begin date on or after August 1, 2011 had 
their COLA reduced from 3%.  The COLA formula is the total years of service before July 2011 
divided by the total service credit at retirement multiplied by 3%.  The annual DROP interest rate 
will be 1.3% for members whose DROP participation begins on or after July 1, 2011. 
 
There are three major changes to the FRS which only affect members that are initially enrolled in 
the FRS on or after July 1, 2011.  FRS changes dealing with vesting requirements, normal 
retirement date and the calculation of average final compensation (AFC).  First, as a member of 
the FRS Pension Plan, you must be vested to be eligible for a future monthly retirement.  
Members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, are vested after eight years of creditable 
service.  Members that terminate FRS employment prior to vesting may receive a refund on the 
total employee contribution.  Second, members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, the 
normal retirement date is when first eligible to receive an unreduced retirement benefit based on 
age or years of service.  A Regular Class, Senior Management Service Class or Elected 
Officers’ Class member is eligible for normal retirement when he or she is vested and reaches 
age 65 or completes 33 years of service, whichever occurs first.  A Special Risk Class member 
is eligible for normal retirement when he or she is vested and reaches age 60 or complete 30 
years of special service, whichever occurs first.  Third, members enrolled on or after July 1, 
2011, the average final compensation calculation used in calculating the retirement benefit will 
be the highest eight fiscal years of salary. 
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17. RETIREMENT BENEFITS, Continued: 
 
Florida State Retirement Programs – continued 
 
Under the FRS, the District was required to contribute to the plans as of July 1, 2012, 5.18% of 
the salary of regular members (both Pension Plan and Investment Plan) and the 14.90% of the 
salary of the special risk members. The District’s contributions to FRS for both the Regular plan 
and Special Risk plan are equal to the annual required contributions for each year as follows 
(dollars in thousands): 
 
  June 30, 2011  June 30, 2012  June 30, 2013 
          
Florida Retirement System  $ 199,876  $ 84,262  $ 89,764 
Teacher’s Retirement System – 

Plan E: Employer 
 

$
 

41  $ 16  
 

$ 16 
 
The State of Florida issues an annual report that includes financial statements and required 
supplementary information for FRS.  The latest available report is as of June 30, 2012.  That 
report may be obtained by writing to the State of Florida Division of Retirement, Department of 
Management Services, P.O. Box 9000, Tallahassee, Florida 32315-9000. 

 
Supplemental Early Retirement Plan 

 
In addition to participating in the FRS, the School Board established an early retirement plan on 
July 1, 1984.  The plan is a single employer, non-contributory defined benefit plan and is 
administered by an independent trustee and investments are managed by the District.  The 
School Board closed the Supplemental Early Retirement Plan (the “Plan”) to new employees on 
July 1, 2000, with no additional employees vesting after July 1, 2003. The Plan was established 
in order to supplement an early retiree’s benefits by the amount of reduction imposed by the 
FRS. The Plan provides supplemental income for those employees who retired between the 
ages of 55 to 61 and who had completed at least 25 years, but not more than 28 years of 
creditable service. Payments under the Plan are equal to the difference in monthly retirement 
income for the participant under the FRS between the retirement benefit based on average final 
compensation, as defined above, and creditable service as of the member’s early retirement 
date and the early retirement benefit under the FRS. Benefits are subject to an annual 3% cost 
of living adjustment.  These benefit provisions and all other requirements are established by 
Florida Statutes, Section 1012.685. 

 
The total number of retirees and beneficiaries of deceased retirees currently receiving benefits is 
580, averaging $608 per month for each retiree.  No benefits are provided for termination of 
employment prior to retirement. 

 
The School Board’s funding policy provides for actuarially determined periodic contributions 
sufficient to pay the benefits provided by this Plan when they become due.  Plan members do 
not contribute to the Plan.  Total contributions to the Plan for the 2012-13 fiscal year of $1,942 
(in thousands) were made in accordance with actuarially determined requirements computed 
through an actuarial valuation performed as of July 1, 2011. 
 
Valuations to determine the Plan’s contribution requirements are performed every other year at 
the beginning of the fiscal year in odd years.  To determine the Plan’s funding requirements, the 
Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method was used. The actuarial cost method is closed group. 
 
Separate statements are not issued for the Plan. 
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17. RETIREMENT BENEFITS, Continued: 
 

Supplemental Early Retirement Plan – continued 
 
The methodology for determination of the contribution requirement has been updated to reflect 
assumptions for cost of living increases instead of assumed growth of future payroll since there 
is no longer covered payroll under the Plan. 
 
The UAAL will be amortized using an open flat-dollar amortization method over a 10-year period 
beginning on July 1, 2012, through annual contributions.  This methodology has been updated 
effectively July 1, 2012.  Assets are valued at fair value, the inflation rate is 2.5% and the 
investment rate of return is assumed to be 6.75%. 
 
An analysis of funding progress is presented below: 
 

Fiscal Year 
Ended June 30, 

  Annual Pension 
Cost (APC) 

 Percentage of APC 
Contributed 

 Net Pension 
Obligation 

2013  $ 1,942  100 %  - 
2012  $ 2,188  100 %  - 
2011  $ 2,125  100 %  - 

 
Funded Status and Funding Progress – 
 

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) (a) $    41,510  
Actuarial Value of Plan Assets (b) 24,632  
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) (c) 16,878  
Funded Ratio (b/a) 59 % 
Covered Payroll (Active than Members) (d) N/A*  
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll (c/d) N/A* % 

 
* The School Board terminated eligibility for the Supplemental Early Retirement Plan for 

eligible employees who did not elect to retire under its provision by July 1, 2003. 
 
The schedule of funding progress is presented as Required Supplementary Information (RSI) 
following the notes to the financial statements and presents multi-year trend information about 
whether the actual value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the 
accrued actuarial liability for benefits over time. 
 
The Plan is included as a Pension Trust fund in the accompanying financial statements.  
Contributions are recognized when due. Benefits are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with the terms of the Plan. 
 
Investments are reported at fair value and are comprised of the following at June 30, 2013 
(amounts in thousands): 
 

Commercial Paper  $ 8,498 
    
Money Market Mutual Funds  $ 601 
Mutual Funds:    
 Mutual Funds Closed-End   11,088 
 Mutual Funds Open-End   4,368 
Total Mutual Funds   15,456 
Total Investments  $ 24,555 
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17. RETIREMENT BENEFITS, Continued: 
 

Other Post Employment Benefits 
 
As authorized by the Board, employees who retire in the first year of their eligibility under the 
FRS or who retired under the Plan can receive up to $1,200 per year as reimbursement for 
health insurance cost paid until they reach 65 years of age or until they become eligible for 
Medicare or Social Security disability.  In October 2013, approximately 213 retirees will receive 
an estimated $202 thousand in premium reimbursements for the year ended June 30, 2013. 
 
From 1991 through 2005, the District offered retirement incentive programs in an effort to reduce 
salary costs. The programs include enhanced insurance benefits up to the Board’s annual 
monthly contribution and payments of accrued sick leave at an enhanced rate. Enhanced 
insurance benefits offered to eligible employees, as defined under the provisions of each 
program, consist of health and term life insurance subsidies for up to ten years.  Expenditures 
for the retirement incentive program are recognized in the General Fund each year on a pay-as-
you-go basis. The estimated liability for retirees receiving benefits of approximately $1.6 million 
is fully accrued and included in the government-wide financial statements. 
 
The District implemented GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by 
Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions, for certain postemployment 
health care benefits provided by the District for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008. 
 
Plan Description – Effective January 1, 2010, the District changed from a fully-insured health 
program to a self-insured program for eligible employees and retirees.  The Plan operates as a 
single employer defined benefit plan.  Employees who participate in and satisfy the vesting, 
disability, early or normal retirement provision of FRS may be eligible for Other Post 
Employment Benefits (OPEB). Retirees and their dependents are permitted to remain covered 
under the District’s respective medical plans as long as they pay the premium charged for the 
plan and coverage elected. This conforms to the minimum required of Florida governmental 
employers per Chapter 112.08, F.S. 
 
The State of Florida prohibits the District from separately rating retirees and active employees.  
The District therefore charges both groups an equal, blended rate premium.  Although both 
groups are charged the same blended rate premium, accounting standards require the actuarial 
amounts presented above to be calculated using age adjusted premiums approximating claims 
costs for retirees separate from active employees.  The use of age adjusted premiums results in 
the addition of an implicit rate subsidy into the actuarial accrued liability. 
 
Funding Policy – The District is not required by law or contractual agreement to provide funding 
for OPEB other than the pay-as-you-go amount necessary to provide current benefits to retirees 
and eligible dependents. Currently, the District’s OPEB benefits are unfunded. That is, there is 
not a separate Trust Fund or equivalent arrangement into which the District would make 
contributions to advance-fund the obligation, as it does for its pension plan, FRS. Therefore, the 
ultimate subsidies which are provided over time, are directly financed by general assets of the 
District, which are invested in short-term fixed income instruments. 
 
Consequently, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 45, the interest discount rate used to 
calculate the present value and costs of the OPEB must be the long-range expected return on 
such short-term fixed income instruments. The District selected an interest discount rate of 4.5% 
for this purpose.  In addition to the interest discount rate, the other significant actuarial 
assumption used is the health care cost trend rate and participation assumptions.  The valuation 
used a health care trend rate of 10.0% grading down by 0.5% annually to an ultimate of 5% and 
the inflation rate used is 3%.  The participation assumption of 25% is the assumed percentage of 
future retirees that participate and enroll in the health plan.  The unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability is being amortized over the period of 30 years on an open basis.  It is calculated 
assuming a level percentage of projected payroll. 
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17. RETIREMENT BENEFITS, Continued: 
 

Other Post Employment Benefits – continued 
 
Annual OPEB and Net OPEB Obligation – The District’s annual OPEB cost (expense) is 
calculated based on the annual required contribution (ARC) of the employer, an amount that was 
actuarially determined by using the entry age actuarial cost method (one of the actual cost 
methods in accordance with GASB Statement No. 45), with an amortization of the Unfunded 
Actuarial Accrued Liability as a level percent of expected payroll. 
 
The following table shows the District’s OPEB cost for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 (in 
thousands): 
 

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) $ 10,270 
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation  803 
Adjustment to ARC  (682) 
Annual OPEB Cost (Expense)  10,391 
Employer Contributions  (14,145) 
Increase (decrease) in Net OPEB Obligated  (3,754) 
Net OPEB Obligation at beginning of year  17,853 
Net OPEB Obligation at end of year $ 14,099 

 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions – Calculations of benefits for financial reporting purposes 
are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and plan members) 
and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern 
of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point.  The actuarial 
methods and assumptions used are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued 
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the 
calculations. 
 
The District’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, 
and the net OPEB obligations as of June 30, 2013, was as follows (in thousands): 
 

 
Fiscal 
Year 

  
Annual 

OPEB Cost 

   
Amount 

Contributed 

 Percentage of 
Annual OPEB 

Cost Contributed 

   
Net OPEB 
Obligation 

2011 $       6,094  $ 10,313  169 %  $ 19,171 
2012 $ 10,258  $ 11,576  113 %  $ 17,853 
2013 $ 10,391  $ 14,145  136 %  $ 14,099 

 
Funded Status and Funding Progress (in thousands): 
 

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) (a) 152,835  
Actuarial Value of Plan Assets (b) 0  
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) (c) 152,835  
Funded Ratio (b/a) 0 % 
Covered Payroll (Active Members) 1,709,167  
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll (c/d) 8.94 % 

 
The schedule of funding progress is presented as Required Supplementary Information (RSI) 
following the notes to the financial statements and presents multi-year trend information about 
whether the actual value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the 
accrued actuarial liability for benefits over time. 
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18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:  
A. Commitments 

 
As part of its capital outlay program, the District has entered into various construction 
commitments totaling approximately $31.2 million as of June 30, 2013. (See Note 4). 
 
The District leases certain facilities and equipment under various cancelable, operating 
lease agreements with lease terms not extending beyond one year.  The total lease rent 
expense for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 under these leases was approximately 
$5.8 million. 
 

B. Contingencies 
 
Florida Education Finance Program and Federal, State and Local Grants 
 
The School Board receives funding from the State of Florida under the Florida Education 
Finance Program (FEFP), which is based in part on a computation of the number of full-
time equivalent (FTE) students attending different instructional programs.  The accuracy 
of FTE student data submitted by individual schools and used in the FEFP computations 
is subject to audit by the state and, if found to be in error, could result in refunds to the 
state or in decreases to future funding allocations.  Additionally, the School Board 
participates in a number of federal, state and local grants which are subject to financial 
and compliance audits.  It is the opinion of management that the amount of revenue, if 
any, which may be remitted back to the state due to errors in the FTE student data or 
the amount of grant expenditures which may be disallowed by grantor agencies would 
not be material to the financial position of the District. 

 
C. Litigation 

 
The School Board is a defendant in numerous lawsuits as of June 30, 2013.  In the 
opinion of management, the District’s estimated aggregate liability, with respect to 
probable losses, has been provided for in the estimated liability for insurance risks and 
pending claims in the accompanying financial statements, after giving consideration to 
the District’s related insurance coverage, as well as the Florida statutory limitations of 
governmental liability on uninsured risks.  It is the opinion of management and District 
legal counsel that the amount of losses resulting, if any, from the above-mentioned 
litigation in excess of the amount accrued as of June 30, 2013, would not be material to 
the financial position of the District. 
 

19. FUND BALANCES: 
 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund 
Type Definitions, the District reports its fund balance in the following categories: 
 

Nonspendable – The District has $23.8 million prepaid items and $8.7 million inventories 
that are considered nonspendable. 
 
Restricted – The District reported restricted fund balances totaling $139.4 million comprised 
of $1.5 million of State Required Carryover programs, $14.4 million in Food Service, $0.6 in 
Miscellaneous Special Revenue, $77.7 million in Debt Services and $45.2 million in Capital 
Projects. 
 
Committed – The District did not have any committed fund balances at June 30, 2013. 
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19. FUND BALANCES, Continued: 
 
Assigned – The District has assigned fund balances totaling $19.1 million comprised of 
$7.2 million for rebudgets and obligations, $10.5 million for outstanding encumbrances for 
goods and services, and $1.4 for capital projects. 
 
Unassigned – The portion of fund balance that is the residual classification for the general 
fund.  This balance represents balance amounts that have not been restricted, committed, or 
assigned for specific purposes.  The unassigned fund balance for the General Fund is $58.0 
million. 

 
 Committed amounts would be reduced first, followed by assigned amounts, and then unassigned 

amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of those 
unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used. 

 
Board Policy 6220.01 delineates Fund Balance Reserve Policies to target 5.5% of the combined 
assigned and unassigned fund balance, as a percentage of Total General Fund Revenues at 
fiscal year end.  At June 30, 2013 the combined assigned and unassigned General Fund 
Balance totaled $75.7 million or 3.2% of General Fund Revenues. 
 
Below is a table of fund balance categories and classifications for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2013 for the Districts’ governmental funds: 
 

                                  Governmental Funds 

 

 

General 
Fund 

  
 
 

Capital 
Improvement 

LOML 

 

Certificates of 
Participation 

  

Other 
Governmental 

Funds 
non-major* 

 

Total 
FUND BALANCES 
Nonspendable: 

          

Inventory   $      5,571   $                -  $                   -    $            3,109    $            8,680

Prepaid amounts         1,567  22,213  -   -  23,780
           
Restricted:           

State Required 
Carryover 

 
1,522  -  -   -  1,522

Special Revenue:           
Food Service -  -  -   14,414  14,414
Miscellaneous -  -  -   622  622

Debt Service  -  -  -   77,619  77,619
Capital Projects  -  12,283  15,801   17,099  45,183

           
Assigned:           

Rebudgets and 
Obligations 

 
7,217  -  -   -  7,217

Encumbrances  10,516  -  -   -  10,516
Capital Projects  -  -  -   1,395  1,395

           
Unassigned:  57,957  -  -   -  57,957

Total Fund Balance  $     84,350    $        34,496    $         15,801      $        114,258  $         248,905

 
* Aggregates all of the District’s non-major fund balances 
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20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS: 
 
Tax Anticipation Notes 
 
On July 25, 2013 the District sold $250 million in Tax Anticipation Notes (“the Notes”) with an 
effective yield of 0.16%.  The Notes were issued to pay operating expenditures incurred prior to 
the receipt of the ad-valorem taxes levied and collected for operating purposes for the fiscal year 
commencing July 1, 2013.  The Notes will mature on March 4, 2014. 
 
General Obligation Bond 
 
On August 15, 2012 the School Board approved Resolution 12-133 calling for a bond election to 
be held on November 6, 2012.  The District requested that the electors of Miami-Dade County, 
Florida vote on the issuance of General Obligation Bonds (GOB) in an aggregate amount not 
exceeding $1.2 billion.  The voter residents of the County approved the General Obligation Bond 
referendum on November 6, 2012 to fund a plan to modernize and construct schools throughout 
the District, including technology upgrades. 
 
The District sold $190 million of Series 2013 GOB on July 10, 2013, at a premium which will 
provide $200 million of project funding.  The $96 million GOB Series 2014A also sold with a 
premium on a seven-month forward delivery basis scheduled to close on February 11, 2014 
which will provide $100 million of project funding.   
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Fiscal
Year

Actuarial 
Accrued 

Liability (AAL)

Actuarial
Value of 

Plan Assets
Unfunded 

AAL (UAAL)
Percentage 

Funded

Annual
Covered 
Payroll

UAAL as 
Percentage 
of Payroll

2008 $          46,502 $     30,788 $      15,715 66 % N/A* N/A*

2009 45,820 23,990 21,830 52 % N/A* N/A*

2010 43,687 23,823 19,863 54 % N/A* N/A*

2011 42,586 25,133 17,453 59 % N/A* N/A*

2012 40,998 23,734 17,264 58 % N/A* N/A*

2013 41,510 24,632 16,878 59% N/A* N/A*

* The School Board terminated eligibility for the Supplemental Early Retirement Plan for eligible
employees who did not elect to retire under its provision by July 1, 2003.

The information presented in the required supplementary schedules was determined as part of 
the actuarial valuations at the dates incurred.

THE SCHOOL BOARD OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SUPPLEMENTAL EARLY RETIREMENT PENSION TRUST
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

June 30, 2013
(amounts expressed in thousands)
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Fiscal
Year

Annual 
Required 

Contribution
Employer 

Contributions
Total

Contributions

Employer
Contributions as 

Percentage of 
Total Contributions

2008 $           2,444 $          1,840 $             1,840 100 %

2009 1,825 1,825 1,825 100 %

2010 1,879 1,879 1,879 100 %

2011 2,125 2,125 2,125 100 %

2012 2,188 2,188 2,188 100 %

2013 1,942 1,942 1,942 100%

THE SCHOOL BOARD OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SUPPLEMENTAL EARLY RETIREMENT PENSION TRUST
SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

June 30, 2013
(amounts expressed in thousands)
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THE SCHOOL BOARD OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

June 30, 2013
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Actuarial 
Valuation         

Date

Actuarial 
Accrued 

Liability (AAL)

Actuarial
Value of 

Plan Assets
Unfunded 

AAL (UAAL)
Percentage 

Funded

Annual
Covered 
Payroll

UAAL as 
Percentage 
of Payroll

10/1/2006 $ 322,766 $ 0 $ 322,766 0.00 % $ 1,619,403 19.93 %

6/30/2009    322,766    0    322,766 0.00 %    1,734,316 18.61 %

6/30/2010      89,069    0      89,069 0.00 %    1,822,042 4.89 %

6/30/2011      86,600    0      86,600 0.00 %     1,823,966 4.75 %

6/30/2012 153,759 0 153,759 0.00 % 1,715,231 8.96 %

6/30/2013 152,835   0 152,835 0.00% 1,709,167 8.94%
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THE SCHOOL BOARD OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS

June 30, 2013
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Fiscal
Year

Annual Required 
Contribution 

(ARC)
Amount 

Contributed
Percentage of 
Contribution

Net OPEB 
Obligation

2011      $   5,934    $   10,313 173.80 %    $  19,171

2012      10,127      11,576 114.31 %     17,853

2013      10,270      14,145 137.73%     14,099
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Non-major Special Revenue Funds

The Non-major Special Revenue Funds account for and report the proceeds of specific 
revenue sources derived from Miami-Dade County, Florida, the State of Florida and the 
Federal Government; that are restricted or committed to finance designated activities.  
Activities included within the funds are as follows:

• Food Service Fund - Accounts for and reports on proceeds of specific revenues of
the food service program in serving breakfast and lunch at the schools.

• Miscellaneous Special Revenue Funds - Account for and report on proceeds
of specific revenues that are restricted or committed to expenditures of the law
enforcement and special events fund.
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Non-major Debt Service Funds

The Non-major Debt Service Funds account for the payment of interest and principal 
of the current portion on long-term debt, primarily from tax proceeds and earnings on 
temporary investments:

•	 State Board of Education Bond Funds - Account for and report on payment of 
principal and interest on various bond issues serviced by the State.

•	 Certificates	of	Participation	Fund	- Accounts for and reports on payment of principal, 
interest and related costs on obligations pertaining to lease payments, acquisition and 
construction of schools and ancillary facilities.

•	 General Obligation School Bonds Fund - Accounts for and reports on payment of 
principal, interest and related costs on bonds of the voter-approved Bond Referendum 
issued to finance the building of new schools and facilities.
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Non-major Capital Projects Funds

The Non-major Capital Projects Funds account for the financing and acquisition or 
construction of major capital facilities, such as new school buildings or additions to 
existing buildings, or for major renovation projects.  Specific funding sources included 
herein are:

•	 Impact Fees Funds - Accounts for and reports on local revenues associated with new 
construction and development.

•	 State Board of Education/Capital Outlay Bond Indebtness (SBE/COBI) Funds 
- Accounts for and reports on the state sales of SBE bonds on behalf of the School 
Board for eligible capital projects.

•	 Master Equipment Lease Fund - Accounts for and reports on funds for leased 
equipment acquisitions.

•	 Section 1011.14 Loans Fund - Accounts for and reports on the proceeds received 
from the issuance of the Revenue Anticipation Notes, used to pay or reimburse the 
capital outlay funds for the cost of acquisition, construction and equipping modular 
classrooms.

•	 Public Education Capital Outlay (PECO) Funds - Accounts for and reports on funds 
received from the State for the construction and maintenance of schools.

•	 General Obligation School Bonds Fund - Accounts for and reports on funds received 
from the issuance of General Obligation School Bonds, used for the construction of 
new schools and major renovations of existing schools.

•	 Capital Outlay and Debt Service Funds - Accounts for and reports on the excess 
dollars from the debt service funds, used for construction and maintenance of 
schools.

•	 Other Capital Projects Funds - Accounts for resources used in site acquisition, 
construction, renovation and remodeling of educational facilities.
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Agency Fund

Agency Fund accounts for the resources of the Schools’ Internal Fund, which is used to 
administer monies, collected at the schools in connection with school, student athletics, 
class and club activities.
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Statistical Section

The Statistical Section presents detailed information as a context for understanding what 
the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary 
says about the District’s overall financial health.  Contents included are as follows:

•	 Financial Trends - These schedules contain trend information to help the reader 
understand how the District’s financial performance and financial condition have 
changed over time.

•	 Revenue Capacity - These schedules contain information to help the reader assess 
the factors affecting the District’s ability to generate a significant revenue source and 
property taxes.

•	 Debt Capacity - These schedules present information to help the reader assess the 
District’s current debt burden and the District’s ability to issue additional debt.

•	 Demographic and Economic Information - These schedules offer demographic and 
economic indicators to help the reader understand the socioeconomic environment 
within which the District operates.

•	 Operation Information - These schedules contain information about the District’s 
operations and resources to help the reader understand how the District’s financial 
information relates to the services it provides and the activities it performs.
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Miami-Dade County Public Schools Anti-Discrimination Policy 
 

Federal and State Laws 

The  School Board  of  Miami-Dade  County,  Florida  adheres to  a  policy  of nondiscrimination in 
employment  and  educational  programs/activities and strives affirmatively to provide equal opportunity for all 
as required by: 

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 - prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, or 
national origin. 

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended - prohibits discrimination in employment on the basis 
of race, color, religion, gender, or national origin. 

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 - prohibits discrimination on the basis of gender. 

Age  Discrimination  in  Employment  Act  of  1967  (ADEA)  as  amended  - prohibits discrimination 
on the basis of age with respect to individuals who are at least 40. 

The Equal Pay Act of 1963 as amended - prohibits gender discrimination in payment of wages to 
women and men performing substantially equal work in the same establishment. 

Section  504  of  the  Rehabilitation  Act  of  1973  -  prohibits  discrimination against the disabled. 

Americans with Disabilities Act  of  1990  (ADA)  -  prohibits discrimination against  individuals with 
disabilities in employment, public service, public accommodations and telecommunications. 

The  Family  and  Medical  Leave  Act  of  1993  (FMLA)  -  requires  covered employers to provide up to 
12 weeks of unpaid, job-protected leave to "eligible" employees for certain family and medical reasons. 

The  Pregnancy  Discrimination  Act  of  1978  -  prohibits  discrimination  in employment  on  the 
basis  of  pregnancy,  childbirth,  or  related  medical conditions. 

Florida Educational Equity Act (FEEA) - prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, gender, national 
origin, marital status, or handicap against a student or employee. 

Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 - secures for all individuals within the state freedom from discrimination 
because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, handicap, or marital status. 

Title II of the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (GINA) - Prohibits 
discrimination against employees or applicants because of genetic information. 

Veterans are provided re-employment rights in accordance with P.L. 93-508 (Federal Law) and Section 295.07 
(Florida Statutes), which stipulate categorical preferences for employment. 

In Addition: 
School Board  Policies 1362,  3362,  4362,  and  5517  -  Prohibit harassment and/or discrimination 
against students, employees, or applicants on the basis of sex, race, color, ethnic or national origin, religion, 
marital status, disability, genetic information, age, political beliefs, sexual orientation, gender, gender 
identification, social and family background, linguistic preference, pregnancy, and any other legally prohibited 
basis. Retaliation for engaging in a protected activity is also prohibited. 

Revised: (05.12) 
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